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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

ADDIE L. MCMILLAN, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION LOCAL 

1395, 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 16-4424 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

Pursuant to notice, a final hearing was conducted in this 

case on March 2, 2017, in Pensacola, Florida, before Garnett W. 

Chisenhall, a duly-designated Administrative Law Judge of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings (“DOAH”).   

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Addie Landrun McMillan, pro se 

                 710 West Jordan Street 

                 Pensacola, Florida  32501 

 

For Respondent:  M. Linville Atkins, Esquire 

                 902 North Gadsden Street 

                 Tallahassee, Florida  32303 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether Amalgamated Transit Union Local 

1395 (“the Union”) committed an unlawful employment practice 

against Petitioner (“Addie L. McMillan”) by failing to provide 

her with the same level of advocacy provided to Union members 

and non-African-Americans.   

 



 

2 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On December 10, 2015, Ms. McMillan filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(“the Commission”) alleging that the Union subjected her to 

disparate treatment by failing to provide her with the same 

level of advocacy provided to Union members and non-African-

Americans.  Ms. McMillan needed representation because First 

Transit, Inc. (“Escambia County Area Transit” or “ECAT”) fired 

Ms. McMillan after she violated a company policy prohibiting bus 

drivers from using cell phones while driving.  Ms. McMillan 

alleged that “Caucasians and members of the [U]nion committed 

infractions and they were terminated and the [U]nion represented 

them and they were given their jobs back.”   

On June 28, 2016, the Commission issued a letter notifying 

Ms. McMillan that it had determined that there was “no 

reasonable cause” to conclude that an unlawful employment 

practice had occurred: 

[Ms. McMillan] was a bus operator 

working for an employer whose employees 

were represented by [the Union], a labor 

organization.  [Ms. McMillan] alleged 

[the Union] denied her equal representation 

in her dispute with her employer over her 

termination on the basis of race, religion, 

sex, and disability.  [Ms. McMillan] did 

not establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  [Ms. McMillan] did not 

show that she had a disability or that 

[the Union] was aware of her religion.  

[Ms. McMillan] identified comparators who 
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may or may not have been outside her 

protected class for sex or race, but 

[Ms. McMillan] did not show that [the Union] 

treated them more favorably.  [Ms. McMillan] 

drew attention to the more favorable 

outcomes they achieved in their disputes 

with the employer, but [Ms. McMillan] did 

not describe how or if they were represented 

differently.  [Ms. McMillan] does not 

identify any other evidence indicating 

discrimination on any protected basis. 

 

Ms. McMillan filed a Petition for Relief with the 

Commission on August 2, 2016, and the Commission transferred the 

case to DOAH that same day.   

Via a Notice of Hearing issued on August 22, 2016, the 

undersigned scheduled the final hearing to occur in Pensacola, 

Florida, on September 23, 2016.   

On August 23, 2016, the Union’s counsel filed a motion 

requesting that the final hearing be continued to a later date.  

In support thereof, the Union’s counsel cited a scheduling 

conflict and noted that she had just been retained by the Union 

on August 23, 2016.   

After holding a telephonic, pre-hearing conference on 

September 8, 2016, the undersigned issued an Amended Notice of 

Hearing re-scheduling the final hearing to occur on October 27, 

2016.   

On October 24, 2016, Ms. McMillan transmitted a letter to 

the undersigned asking that the final hearing scheduled for 

October 27, 2016, be continued to a later date.  In support 
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thereof, Ms. McMillan noted that the parties had yet to exchange 

documents as required by the Order of Pre-hearing Instructions.  

In addition, Ms. McMillan noted that her husband was 

experiencing some unexpected health issues. 

The undersigned determined that Ms. McMillan had shown good 

cause for continuing the final hearing.  Accordingly, the 

undersigned issued an Order on October 25, 2016, canceling the 

final hearing scheduled for October 27, 2016.  Furthermore, the 

undersigned required the parties to provide dates in November 

and December 2016, when both parties would be available for a 

final hearing.   

After receiving the parties’ response, the undersigned 

issued an Order on November 7, 2016, re-scheduling the final 

hearing for December 15, 2016.   

Ms. McMillan also filed an unlawful discrimination claim 

against ECAT, her former employer.  That case was also referred 

to DOAH and assigned Case No. 16-6582. 

Because the cases originated from the same facts and 

several of the witnesses were expected to testify at both final 

hearings, the undersigned elected to conduct the final hearings 

for both of Ms. McMillan’s cases on March 2 and 3, 2017, in 

Pensacola, Florida.  However, the cases were not consolidated, 

and separate recommended orders have been issued for each one.   
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The final hearing in the instant case was held as scheduled 

on March 2, 2017, and completed that day.   

In addition to her own testimony, Ms. McMillan presented 

the testimony of the following witnesses during the final 

hearing:  Roberta Millender, a customer service lead at ECAT; 

Mike Crittenden, the General Manager of ECAT; Dianne Hall, a 

former general manager of ECAT; Kenneth Edgerton, an ECAT 

employee; Gwendolyn McCormick, an ECAT employee; Greg Thomas, an 

ECAT employee; Ted Woolcock, the Director of Safety and Training 

at ECAT; and Michael Lowery, the President of the Union.   

Ms. McMillan’s Exhibits 1 through 5 were accepted into 

evidence.  Ms. McMillan’s Exhibit 6 was not accepted into 

evidence due to a lack of relevance.   

The Union tendered no witnesses and relied on cross-

examination of Ms. McMillan’s witnesses in order to present its 

case.  The Union moved Exhibits 1, 9 through 12, 15 through 17, 

and 20 through 22 into evidence, and the undersigned accepted 

all of the aforementioned exhibits into evidence.   

The Transcript from the final hearing was filed on 

March 22, 2017.   

On April 3, 2017, the attorneys for ECAT and the Union 

filed a joint request asking that the due date for the proposed 

recommended orders be extended to April 28, 2016.  The 
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undersigned issued Orders on April 4, 2017, granting that 

request.   

Ms. McMillan filed a Proposed Recommended Order on April 4, 

2017, and her Proposed Recommended Order was considered in the 

preparation of this Recommended Order.   

Ms. McMillan filed a series of documents on April 5, 2017, 

pertaining to discussions she had after the final hearing in 

this matter.  The undersigned reviewed the documents but did not 

utilize them in the preparation of this Recommended Order.    

The Union filed a Proposed Recommended Order on May 1, 

2017, that was considered in the preparation of this Recommended 

Order.     

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Ms. McMillan is a 55-year-old, African-American female 

who had worked at ECAT for 22 years.  She began as a part-time 

beach trolley operator and progressed to becoming a full-time 

bus driver. 

2.  The Union and ECAT had a labor agreement
1/
 in place 

between October 23, 2013, and September 30, 2016 (“the labor 

agreement”).  Article 52 of the labor agreement had a policy 

regarding the use of cell phones by ECAT employees and provided 

as follows: 

While on duty the use of cellular phone or 

any other personal communication device is 

limited as follows:   
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SECTION 1:  The use by an employee of a 

cellular phone or any other personal 

communication device while behind the wheel 

of a transit vehicle, or any other Company 

motor vehicle is prohibited while the 

vehicle is not secured.  Push to talk 

communication devices issued by the Company 

may be used for work related purposes only 

where authorized by the Company and 

permitted by law, but must be used in a 

manner, which would not create an unsafe 

situation. 

 

Note – Secured definition:  Vehicle must be 

in neutral/park position and emergency brake 

on. 

 

SECTION 2:  If it becomes necessary to use a 

cellular phone, employees must be at the end 

of the line/trip (on layover, if applicable) 

or in a safe location with the bus secure.  

At no time is it permissible to use a 

cellular phone if the use will cause the 

trip to be late at its next scheduled time 

point. 

 

SECTION 3:  The use of a cellular phone or 

other communication device by an employee 

while on the shop floor or during work time 

(unless previously approved) is prohibited, 

other than a Push to Talk communication 

device issued by the Company for work 

related purposes, and only where authorized 

by the Company and permitted by law.   

 

Federal and State law supersede the above 

policy. 

 

SECTION 4:  Disciplinary Action: 

 

Failure to comply with any portion of this 

policy may result in disciplinary action as 

follows: 

 

Violation of Section 2 or Section 3 of this 

Article:  1
st
 offense:  3-day suspension 

          2
nd
 offense:  Termination 
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Violation of Section 1 of this  

Article:  1
st
 offense:  Termination 

 

3.  On the morning of July 29, 2015, Ms. McMillan was 

driving a route that went through the Naval Air Station in 

Pensacola, Florida.  At that time, the navy base had been on 

alert status for approximately one month.  As a result, every 

vehicle entering the navy base had to be searched, and that 

caused Ms. McMillan’s bus to run behind schedule. 

4.  At approximately 10:30 that morning, Ms. McMillan 

needed to use a bathroom and called a dispatcher via a radio 

provided by ECAT.   

5.  The dispatcher contacted by Ms. McMillan was not 

receptive to her request for a bathroom break and cut off 

communications. 

6.  Because Ms. McMillan was unsuccessful in re-

establishing contact with the dispatcher over the radio, she 

used her personal cell phone to call a coworker, Elaine Wiggins.  

Ms. McMillan was hoping that Ms. Wiggins could assist her with 

contacting an ECAT general manager. 

7.  At this point in time, the bus driven by Ms. McMillan 

was in traffic and moving.  In other words, it was not “secured” 

by being in the neutral/park position with the emergency brake 

on. 
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8.  Diane Hall was an assistant general manager for ECAT 

during the time period at issue, and Ms. Hall talked to 

Ms. McMillan via Ms. Wiggins’ cell phone.   

9.  Ms. Hall stated to Ms. McMillan that the route she was 

driving had a pre-arranged break point at a bowling alley and 

that Ms. McMillan could use a bathroom there.   

10.  It is possible that Ms. McMillan would not have 

suffered any consequences for her violation of the cell phone 

policy but for a customer complaint provided to ECAT on July 28, 

2015. 

11.  On July 28, 2015, at 12:25 p.m., Roberta Millender, 

a customer service representative at ECAT, received a phone 

call from a customer who reported that the bus driver for 

Route 57 had left the bus at approximately 11:00 a.m. in order 

to smoke a cigarette, even though the bus was 25 minutes behind 

schedule. 

12.  Ms. McMillan also drives that route.  

13.  ECAT’s buses are equipped with video cameras.  

Therefore, ECAT reviewed the videotape from that particular bus 

in order to investigate the complaint.   

14.  Because the bus videotapes are on a continuous loop, 

ECAT had to pull video corresponding to days before and after 

July 28, 2015.  While looking for the incident on July 28, 2015, 
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that led to the customer complaint, an ECAT employee noticed 

that Ms. McMillan was using her cell phone on July 29, 2015.   

15.  There is no dispute that Ms. McMillan is not the bus 

driver who took the cigarette break on July 28, 2015.
2/
  

16.  On July 30, 2015, ECAT began an investigation of 

Ms. McMillan’s cell phone use.  ECAT notified Ms. McMillan that 

she would continue to work during the investigation.   

17.  ECAT terminated Ms. McMillan on August 3, 2015, for 

violating section 1 of Article 52 of the labor agreement.   

18.  Article 5 of the labor agreement sets forth the 

procedures that ECAT and the Union follow in order to resolve 

labor issues.   

19.  Pursuant to Section 2 of Article 5, Michael Lowery, 

the President of the Union, filed an “Official Grievance Form” 

(“the McMillan grievance”) with Mike Crittenden, ECAT’s General 

Manager. 

20.  Ms. McMillan had reservations about Mr. Lowery 

handling her grievance.  Because she had not joined a recent 

strike and was not a Union member, Ms. McMillan feared that 

Mr. Lowery would not use his best efforts on her behalf.   

21.  However, Mr. Lowery handles the majority of the 

grievances, and he handles all of the grievances involving 

termination.
3/
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22.  The McMillan grievance stated the following: 

The employee does not dispute the offered 

video and will stipulate that she used her 

personal cellphone while operating a transit 

bus while not secure.  This professional bus 

operator understood the Company policy but 

did not clearly understand the proper 

procedure to request assistance to disembark 

her motor coach while under tremendous 

physical bodily stress to relieve herself of 

a bodily function.   

 

Operator McMillan understood the procedure 

to request a 10-7 (Operator off Motor Coach) 

but was concerned with her bodily stress and 

finding a safe, clean rest room which was 

continuing to cause significant additional 

stress.   

 

The Company has clearly FAILED to work at 

providing known secure, clean, safe 

facilities for professional bus operators to 

utilize while operating ECAT buses.  The 

Union has brought this topic forward to 

Management numerous times and no action has 

been taken to formulate the needs of the 

professional bus operators on many bus 

routes including the bus route that Operator 

McMillan was driving on the day in question. 

 

Operator McMillan was dealing with other 

related stress on that particular run.  The 

military base was under alert and traffic 

was extremely backed up.  She was dealing 

with one Dispatcher Supervisor and had 

reached agreement with him on how to proceed 

on the bus route.  But when another Dispatch 

Supervisor came on duty it was clear that 

neither of those Supervisors had shared 

information on dealing with Route 57 with 

the military heighten[ed] alert.  The new 

Dispatch was difficult to communicate with 

about established procedures set earlier 

with another Dispatcher.  This did not help 

the already adverse or very demanding 

circumstance. 
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23.  Mr. Lowery concluded the grievance by asking that ECAT 

rescind its termination of Ms. McMillan, pay her lost wages and 

benefits, and remove any discipline from her file.   

24.  Ordinarily, the first step in resolving a grievance 

involves settlement discussions between ECAT officials and the 

Union.   

25.  However, because Ms. McMillan’s grievance involved a 

termination, it went directly to Mr. Crittenden for his 

consideration.   

26.  Via an e-mail dated August 4, 2015, Mr. Crittenden 

notified Mr. Lowery that he was “denying this grievance and 

upholding the termination of the subject employee.” 

27.  Because Ms. McMillan’s grievance was denied, the next 

step in the process called for the Union to decide whether it 

wanted to submit the grievance to arbitration.
4/
   

28.  As part of this next step, Mr. Crittenden prepared a 

draft version of a “Last Chance Agreement” for the Union to 

review.   

29.  A Last Chance Agreement is an agreement between an 

employee, ECAT, and the Union.   

30.  The draft Last Chance Agreement prepared by 

Mr. Crittenden contained the following provisions: 

1.  The employee violated the Company’s cell 

phone [policy] which is a serious safety 
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infraction that warrants immediate 

termination.   

 

2.  In lieu of terminating her employment, 

the Employee’s discipline record will 

reflect this infraction as suspended 

without pay from August 3, 2015 to 

August 14, 2015 and returning to work on 

August 17, 2015 upon acceptance of this 

agreement, and placed on a twelve month 

probation/Last Chance Agreement.  The 

employee will retain her rate of pay and 

security. 

 

3.  The employee understands that in the 

event she violates company policy by being 

charged with any infraction that warrants 

immediate termination, her employment will 

be terminated without any further 

consideration. 

 

4.  This agreement will be in effect for a 

period of twelve (12) months from the date 

of signature. 

 

5.  The Employee attests that her signature 

below was in no way coerced by any party or 

by the representative of any party. 

 

6.  By entering into this agreement, the 

employee acknowledges that she has read and 

considered each of the provisions of this 

Agreement and that she voluntarily enters 

into this Agreement with full knowledge of 

the consequences.   

 

7.  This Agreement is made on a one-time 

only, non-precedent basis that shall not be 

used or referred to in any future discipline 

or termination case or during any 

grievance/arbitration hearings between the 

parties. 

 

31.  Mr. Lowery presented the proposed Last Chance 

Agreement to the Union’s legal counsel, and the Union had an 
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issue with the seventh provision’s reference to “non-precedent 

basis.”   

32.  Mr. Lowery attempted to reach an agreement with 

Mr. Crittenden for amending that provision, but his efforts were 

unsuccessful.  Mr. Crittenden would not consent to the removal 

of that language.   

33.  Ms. McMillan was disturbed by the fact that she had no 

input into the Last Chance Agreement proposed by Mr. Crittenden 

and that it was not presented to her for approval.   

34.  However, after the Union decided not to accept 

Mr. Crittenden’s proposal, Ms. McMillan’s approval or 

disapproval became irrelevant.  As noted above, a Last Chance 

Agreement involves three consenting parties:  the employee, 

ECAT, and the Union.  Thus, even if Ms. McMillan had been 

satisfied with the Last Chance Agreement proposed by 

Mr. Crittenden, it would not go into effect without the Union’s 

approval.  

35.  In order for the Union’s Executive Board to vote on 

whether to refer Ms. McMillan’s case to arbitration, Mr. Lowery 

put Ms. McMillan’s grievance on the agenda of the Executive 

Board’s August 23, 2015, meeting.   

36.  The five members of the Executive Board who were 

present and eligible to vote unanimously recommended against 
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pursuing arbitration for Ms. McMillan’s grievance because her 

case lacked merit. 

37.  As for why Ms. McMillan’s case lacked merit, 

Mr. Lowery testified that  

Well, basically, it’s pretty simple, we 

negotiated the policy in the labor 

agreement, and this was a video.  And the 

video showed that she had clearly violated 

the policy.  And so from there, it was going 

to be very difficult, based on that 

evidence, that we were not going to be able 

to go forward.  And that’s why the 

membership voted not to go forward.  

 

38.  The Executive Board’s recommendation was considered by 

the full Union membership later that day, and the Union voted to 

accept the Executive Board’s recommendation.  

39.  When asked to explain why the Union elected not to 

arbitrate Ms. McMillan’s grievance, Mr. Lowery testified that 

Simply it’s the severity of the policy, 

which was it’s in the labor agreement.  It 

was negotiated between the Union and the 

company.  And because they had a solid 

video, we would not be able to demonstrate a 

way to achieve a victory in that arbitration 

case.  And, potentially, because it’s in the 

Labor Agreement, that would be used against 

us in an arbitration because we negotiated 

it.  We negotiated the policy.   

 

40.  When subsequently asked a very similar question, 

Mr. Lowery reiterated that 

Well, basically, it’s pretty simple, we 

negotiated the policy in the labor 

agreement, and this was a video.  And the 

video showed that she had clearly violated 
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the policy.  And so from there, it was going 

to be very difficult, based on that 

evidence, that we were not going to be able 

to go forward.  And that’s why the 

membership voted not to go forward.   

 

41.  The Union has not arbitrated any grievances in which a 

driver has been terminated for using a cell phone while a bus 

was not secured. 

42.  Including Ms. McMillan, four drivers have been 

terminated for violating section 1 of Article 52 since the labor 

agreement has been in place.  Three of those drivers were 

African-American (two females and one male), and one was a 

Caucasian female.    

43.  Mr. Crittenden was unaware of any driver being 

retained by ECAT after violating the cell phone policy.
5/
  

44.  In addition to Mr. Crittenden, Ms. McMillan called 

three other ECAT employees who were unaware of any bus driver 

being retained after violating the cell phone policy.  

45.  Mr. Lowery represents every grievance to the best of 

his ability, and he represented Ms. McMillan’s grievance to the 

best of his ability.  The greater weight of the evidence 

demonstrates that he handled Ms. McMillan’s grievance no 

differently than any other grievance.
6/
  

46.  Mr. Lowery did not consider Ms. McMillan’s race or 

religion in the course of representing her.
7/
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47.  The Union did not discriminate against Ms. McMillan 

based on her race or non-union status.  In addition, to whatever 

extent that Ms. McMillan is alleging that she was discriminated 

against on any other grounds, there is no evidence to support 

such allegations.    

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

48.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida 

Statutes (2016),
8/
 and Florida Administrative Code Rule 60Y-

4.016(1). 

49.  The State of Florida, under the legislative scheme 

contained in sections 760.01–760.11 and 509.092, Florida 

Statutes, known as the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (“the 

FCRA”), incorporates and adopts the legal principles and 

precedents established in the federal anti-discrimination laws 

specifically set forth under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, as amended.  42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq. 

50.  The FCRA protects individuals from discrimination by a 

labor organization.  See § 760.10(3), Fla. Stat. (providing that 

it is an unlawful employment practice for a labor organization 

“[t]o exclude or to expel from its membership, or otherwise to 

discriminate against, any individual because of race, color, 
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religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, age, handicap, or 

marital status.”).   

51.  A party may prove unlawful race discrimination by 

direct or circumstantial evidence.  Smith v. Fla. Dep’t of 

Corr., Case No. 2:07-cv-631 (M.D. Fla. May 27, 2009); 2009 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 44885 (M.D. Fla. 2009).  Direct evidence is evidence 

that, if believed, would prove the existence of discriminatory 

intent behind the employment decision without any inference 

or presumption.  Demney v. City of Albany, 247 F.3d 1172, 

1182 (11th Cir. 2001); Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 

1561 (11th Cir. 1997).  Courts have held that “only the most 

blatant remarks, whose intent could be nothing other than to 

discriminate . . . will constitute direct evidence of 

discrimination.”  Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 

196 F.3d 1354, 1358-59 (11th Cir. 1999)(internal citations 

omitted).  

52.  Ms. McMillan presented no direct or statistical 

evidence of discrimination by the Union. 

53.  In the absence of direct or statistical evidence 

of discriminatory intent, Ms. McMillan must rely on 

circumstantial evidence of discrimination to prove her case.  

For discrimination claims involving circumstantial evidence, 

Florida courts follow the three-part, burden-shifting framework 
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set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 

93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973).   

54.  As explained in Radford v. Union Here Local 2, 

2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70159 *32-33 (N.D. Cal. 2011): 

The standard burden-shifting framework 

established in McDonnell Douglas also 

applies to a Title VII action against a 

union.  See Pejic v. Hughes Helicopters, 

Inc., 840 F.2d 667, 674 (9th Cir. 1988).  

A union member can make a prima facie claim 

of discrimination by introducing evidence 

that the member "was singled out and treated 

less favorably than others similarly 

situated on account of race or any other 

criterion impermissible under the statute."  

Gay v. Waiters’ & Dairy Lunchmen’s Union, 

694 F.2d 531, 537 (9th Cir. 1982); see 

also Pejic, 840 F.2d at 674.  As in 

McDonnell Douglas, such a showing of 

disparate treatment raises an inference of 

discrimination "because experience has 

proved that in the absence of any other 

explanation it is more likely than not that 

those actions were bottomed on impermissible 

considerations."  Furnco Constr. Corp. v. 

Waters, 438 U.S. 567, 579-80, 98 S.Ct. 2943, 

57 L.Ed.2d 957 (1978). 

A prima facie case of discrimination may be 

established against a union by showing that: 

"(1) the employer violated the collective 

bargaining agreement with respect to the 

employee; (2) the union breached its duty of 

fair representation by allowing the breach 

to go unrepaired; and (3) there is some 

evidence of [illegal] animus among the 

union."  Beck v. UFCW Local 99, 506 F.3d 

874, 885 (9th Cir. 2007)(citing Bugg v. 

Int’l Union of Allied Indus. Workers of Am., 

674 F.2d 595 (7th Cir. 1982). 

If the plaintiff succeeds in establishing a 

prima facie case of discrimination against 

the union, the burden of production shifts 
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to the union to articulate a legitimate, 

non-discriminatory reason for the less 

favorable treatment.  Pejic, 840 F.2d at 

674.  The union must provide "reasons for 

its actions which, if believed by the trier 

of fact, would support a finding that 

unlawful discrimination was not the cause of 

the . . . action."  St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. 

Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 507, 113 S.Ct. 2742,. 

125 L.Ed.2d 407 (1993).  Once the defendant 

produces sufficient evidence to satisfy 

this burden, "'the McDonnell Douglas 

framework - with its presumptions and 

burdens' -  disappear[s]," Reeves v. 

Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 

133, 142-43, 120 S.Ct. 2097, 147 L.Ed.2d 

105 (2000)(quoting Hicks, 509 U.S. at 510), 

and the plaintiff "retains that ultimate 

burden of persuading the [trier of fact] 

that [he] has been the victim of intentional 

discrimination."  Hicks, 509 U.S. at 

508 (internal quotations omitted). 

 

55.  With regard to the instant case, there is no evidence 

that the employer, ECAT, violated the labor agreement.  As 

discussed above, every driver who violated the labor agreement’s 

pertinent prohibition against cell phone use has been 

terminated.     

56.  Even if Ms. McMillan could satisfy the first element 

of a prima facie case, she cannot demonstrate that the Union 

breached any duty of fair representation or treated similarly-

situated ECAT employees more favorably.   

57.  The greater weight of the evidence demonstrates that 

Mr. Lowery handled Ms. McMillan’s grievance no differently than 

any other grievance involving a similar level of severity.  
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58.  In addition, Mr. Lowery did not consider 

Ms. McMillan’s race or religion in the course of representing 

her.  

59.  In sum, the Union did not discriminate against 

Ms. McMillan based on her race or non-union status.  In 

addition, to whatever extent that Ms. McMillan is alleging that 

she was discriminated against on other grounds, there is no 

evidence to support such allegations.   

60.  Accordingly, Ms. McMillan failed to prove her 

disparate treatment claim.  See Jones v. Bessemer Carraway Med. 

Ctr., 137 F.3d 1306, 1311 (11th Cir. 1998)(noting that “[i]f 

Plaintiff fails to identify similarly situated, nonminority 

employees who were treated more favorably, her case must fail 

because the burden is on her to establish her prima facie 

case.”).   

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations issue a final order dismissing Addie L. McMillan’s 

Petition for Relief from an Unlawful Employment Practice.   
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DONE AND ENTERED this 31st day of May, 2017, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   
G. W. CHISENHALL 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 31st day of May, 2017. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Mike Crittenden, the General Manager of ECAT, described the 

labor agreement as follows:  “[I]t’s a bargained contract 

between employees represented by the Union and management as to 

how work will be conducted, how discipline will be carried out, 

and a certain number of other work rules, or how the business is 

managed, what’s determined to be management rights and, also, 

contains a grievance process when issues arise that we need to 

resolve.  There’s a formal process in place to do that.”  While 

the labor agreement does not apply to all ECAT employees, it did 

apply to bus drivers.     
 

2/
  Ms. McMillan argued during the hearing that ECAT should not 

have disciplined her because she was not the subject of the 

customer complaint that led ECAT to examine the video from the 

bus she drove.     

 
3/
  Mr. Crittenden and Mr. Lowery testified that the Union is 

required to represent all of the employees covered by the labor 

agreement, regardless of whether those employees are Union 

members.  Mr. Lowery testified that the National Labor Relations 

Act requires private sector unions to represent all bargaining 

unit employees, regardless of whether they are union members.   
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4/
  Mr. Lowery explained that “[a]rbitration is where the 

grievance is moved by the membership.  It’s – the grievance is 

usually taken in front of the Union membership for them to 

consider.  And based on the merits of the grievance, the 

membership will vote to forward the grievance to arbitration or 

not to move to arbitration.  Then, from there, the Collective 

Bargaining Agreement outlines the steps to select an arbitrator 

through the Federal Mediation Conciliation Services.  And, at 

some point, the company will intermingle, once we receive a 

panel of arbitrators, we will then meet and strike names until 

one arbitrator remains.  And from there, we will set a date for 

an arbitration.”   

 
5/
  Mr. Crittenden testified that the African-American male 

driver who was terminated for violating the cell phone policy 

was involved in an earlier incident in which a customer filed a 

complaint alleging that he had been improperly using his cell 

phone.  Because that complaint could not be substantiated, the 

driver received verbal counseling rather than a termination.    

 
6/
  Ms. McMillan is of the opinion that Mr. Lowery should have 

communicated with her more frequently or in person.  However, 

Ms. McMillan’s Exhibit 4 indicates that Mr. Lowery frequently 

used text messages to update her on the status of her grievance.  

While Ms. McMillan may have preferred more frequent 

communication and for that communication to be transmitted 

through telephone calls, the evidence indicates that Mr. Lowery 

kept Ms. McMillan informed about the status of her grievance.   

 
7/
  In the last sentence of her Charge of Discrimination, 

Ms. McMillan stated the following:  “I was experiencing problems 

with the medical problems I received on the job previously this 

year.”  During the final hearing, Ms. McMillan substantially 

expanded on that statement by testifying that she had been 

involved in an accident and put on light duty.  While on 

light duty, Ms. McMillan was using a rolling chair and “flipped 

over.”  During the final hearing, Ms. McMillan alleged that 

her termination was in retaliation for Ms. McMillan having a 

workers’ compensation claim.  However, that allegation pertains 

to Ms. McMillan’s case against ECAT rather than the Union.  

Therefore, the undersigned chose not to address that allegation 

in the instant case. 

 
8/
  Unless stated otherwise, all statutory citations are to the 

2016 edition of the Florida Statutes.   
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COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

Room 110 

4075 Esplanade Way 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

Addie Landrun McMillan 

710 West Jordan Street 

Pensacola, Florida  32501 

(eServed) 

 

Michael Alexander Lowery 

Amalgamated Transit Union Local 1395, AFL-CIO 

4302 Yarmouth Place 

Pensacola, Florida  32514 

(eServed) 

 

M. Linville Atkins, Esquire 

902 North Gadsden Street 

Tallahassee, Florida  32303 

(eServed) 

 

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 



TBD | 201722 TBD.R (Unofficial Reporter) | 1/27/2023 

www.TextBookDiscrimination.com | Get Booked Up on Justice | 28 of 136 

 

 

 

 

 

201722 TBD.R 002 

‘AGENCY RECOMMENDED ORDERS’ 

 

CAPTION: Mcmillan v. First Transit 

CITATION: 201722 TBD.R 002 

DATE: 5/31/2017 

STATE: FL  

 

CASE NO: 

2015-01937 (FCHR) 

16-006582 (DOAH) 

CASE TYPE: Employment Discrimination 

 

age col dis fam mar nat rac rel ret sex unk 

           

 

FILENAME: 16006582.pdf 

PAGES: 18 

 

RESULT: judged (defendant won) 

 

 

https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/


STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

ADDIE L. MCMILLAN, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

FIRST TRANSIT, INC., 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 16-6582 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

Pursuant to notice, a final hearing was conducted in this 

case on March 2, 2017, in Pensacola, Florida, before Garnett W. 

Chisenhall, a duly-designated Administrative Law Judge of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings (“DOAH”).   

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Addie Landrun McMillan, pro se 

                 710 West Jordan Street 

                 Pensacola, Florida  32501 

 

For Respondent:  Matthew Dunning, EEO Manager 

                 First Transit, Inc. 

                 600 Vine Street, Suite 1400 

                 Cincinnati, Ohio  45202   

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether First Transit, Inc. (“Escambia County 

Area Transit” or “ECAT”)
1/
 committed an unlawful employment 

practice against Petitioner (“Addie L. McMillan”) by subjecting 

her to disparate treatment and/or by retaliating against her.   
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On December 10, 2015, Ms. McMillan filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(“the Commission”) alleging that ECAT subjected her to disparate 

treatment by firing Ms. McMillan from her job as a bus driver.  

The firing occurred after Ms. McMillan violated a company policy 

prohibiting drivers from using cell phones while driving.  

Ms. McMillan alleged that those outside her protected class had 

committed the same infraction without losing their jobs.  

Ms. McMillan further alleged that she was experiencing “medical 

problems” that she had incurred while working.   

On October 5, 2016, the Commission issued a letter 

notifying Ms. McMillan that it had determined that there was “no 

reasonable cause” to conclude that an unlawful employment 

practice had occurred: 

[Ms. McMillan] filed a charge of 

discrimination against [ECAT] alleging 

that she was subjected to different 

terms and conditions of employment and 

discharged based on her race, religion, 

sex and disability and that she was denied a 

reasonable accommodation based on her 

disability.  The facts and evidence as set 

forth in the Investigative Memorandum do 

not support [Ms. McMillan]’s allegation.  

The evidence in this matter reveals that 

[Ms. McMillan] was terminated because she 

did not comply with [ECAT]’s rule and policy 

against talking on her cell phone while 

operating [ECAT]’s city bus.  [Ms. McMillan] 

was not subjected to different terms and 

conditions of employment and discharged 
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based on her race, religion, sex and 

disability or denied a reasonable 

accommodation and no credible evidence was 

provided to prove otherwise.
[2/]

 

 

Ms. McMillan filed a Petition for Relief with the 

Commission on November 9, 2016, and the Commission transferred 

the case to DOAH that same day.   

Via a Notice of Hearing issued on November 28, 2016, the 

undersigned scheduled the final hearing to occur in Pensacola, 

Florida, on December 15, 2016.   

On December 8, 2016, Matthew H. Dunning, Esquire, filed a 

request to appear as ECAT’s qualified representative.  After 

considering the assertions set forth therein, the undersigned 

issued an Order on December 8, 2016, granting that request.   

After holding a telephonic, pre-hearing conference on 

December 13, 2016, the undersigned determined that the parties 

were not adequately prepared to proceed with the December 15, 

2016, final hearing.  Accordingly, the undersigned issued two 

Orders on December 15, 2016.  One Order canceled the final 

hearing, and the other required the parties to:  (a) identify 

every witness expected to testify at the final hearing; and    

(b) provide days in January and February of 2017, when both 

parties would be available for a final hearing. 

Ms. McMillan also filed an unlawful discrimination claim 

against the Amalgamated Transit Union Local 1395 (“the Union”), 
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the union that represents ECAT bus drivers.  That case was also 

referred to DOAH and assigned Case No. 16-4424. 

Because the cases originated from the same facts and 

several of the witnesses were expected to testify at both final 

hearings, the undersigned elected to conduct the final hearings 

for both of Ms. McMillan’s cases on March 2 and 3, 2017, in 

Pensacola, Florida.  However, the cases were not consolidated, 

and separate recommended orders will be issued for each one.   

The final hearing in the instant case was held as scheduled 

on March 2, 2017, and completed that day.   

In addition to her own testimony, Ms. McMillan presented 

the testimony of the following witnesses during the final 

hearing:  Roberta Millender, a customer service lead at ECAT; 

Mike Crittenden, the General Manager of ECAT; Dianne Hall, a 

former general manager of ECAT; Kenneth Edgerton, an ECAT 

employee; Gwendolyn McCormick, an ECAT employee; Greg Thomas, an 

ECAT employee; Ted Woolcock, the Director of Safety and Training 

at ECAT; and Michael Lowery, the President of the Union.   

Ms. McMillan’s Exhibits 1 through 5 were accepted into 

evidence.  Ms. McMillan’s Exhibit 6 was not accepted into 

evidence due to a lack of relevance.   

ECAT tendered no witnesses and relied on cross-examination 

of Ms. McMillan’s witnesses in support of its case.  ECAT’s 

Exhibits 1 through 13 were accepted into evidence.  
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The Transcript from the final hearing was filed with DOAH 

on March 22, 2017.   

On April 3, 2017, the attorneys for ECAT and the Union 

filed a joint request asking that the due date for the proposed 

recommended orders be extended to April 28, 2016.  The 

undersigned issued an Order on April 4, 2017, granting that 

request.   

ECAT filed a timely Proposed Recommended Order on April 28, 

2017, that was considered in the preparation of this Recommended 

Order.   

Ms. McMillan filed a Proposed Recommended Order in her case 

against the Union.  Because that Proposed Recommended Order 

appeared to be relevant to the instant case, the undersigned 

also considered it in the preparation of this Recommended Order.   

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Ms. McMillan is a 55-year-old, African-American female 

who had worked at ECAT for 22 years.  She began as a part-time 

beach trolley operator and progressed to becoming a full-time 

bus driver. 

2.  The Union and ECAT had a labor agreement in place 

between October 23, 2013, and September 30, 2016 (“the labor 

agreement”).  Article 52 of the labor agreement had a policy 

regarding the use of cell phones by ECAT employees and provided 

as follows: 
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While on duty the use of cellular phone or 

any other personal communication device is 

limited as follows:   

 

SECTION 1:  The use by an employee of a 

cellular phone or any other personal 

communication device while behind the wheel 

of a transit vehicle, or any other Company 

motor vehicle is prohibited while the 

vehicle is not secured.  Push to talk 

communication devices issued by the Company 

may be used for work related purposes only 

where authorized by the Company and 

permitted by law, but must be used in a 

manner, which would not create an unsafe 

situation. 

 

Note – Secured definition:  Vehicle must be 

in neutral/park position and emergency brake 

on. 

 

SECTION 2:  If it becomes necessary to use a 

cellular phone, employees must be at the end 

of the line/trip (on layover, if applicable) 

or in a safe location with the bus secure.  

At no time is it permissible to use a 

cellular phone if the use will cause the 

trip to be late at its next scheduled time 

point. 

 

SECTION 3:  The use of a cellular phone or 

other communication device by an employee 

while on the shop floor or during work time 

(unless previously approved) is prohibited, 

other than a Push to Talk communication 

device issued by the Company for work 

related purposes, and only where authorized 

by the Company and permitted by law.   

 

Federal and State law supersede the above 

policy. 

 

SECTION 4:  Disciplinary Action: 

 

Failure to comply with any portion of this 

policy may result in disciplinary action as 

follows: 
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Violation of Section 2 or Section 3 of this 

Article:  1st offense:  3-day suspension 

          2nd offense:  Termination 

 

Violation of Section 1 of this  

Article:  1st offense:  Termination 

 

3.  On June 19, 2012, Ms. McMillan signed a document 

entitled “Escambia County Area Transit Cellular Phone Policy” 

which provided that: 

While on duty the use of a cellular phone or 

any other personal communication device is 

limited as follows: 

 

Employees on Company Business:  The use by 

an employee of a cellular phone or any other 

personal communication device while behind 

the wheel of a transit vehicle, or any other 

company motor vehicle is prohibited.  Push-

to-talk communication devices issued by the 

Company may be used for work-related 

purposes only where authorized by the 

Company and permitted by law, but must be 

used in a manner, which would not create an 

unsafe situation.   

 

If it becomes necessary to use a cellular 

phone, employees must be at the end of the 

line/trip (on layover, if applicable), 

request a 10-7, and exit the driver’s seat 

prior to using the cellular phone.  At no 

time is it permissible to use a cellular 

phone if the use will cause the trip to be 

late at its next scheduled time point.   

 

The use of a cellular phone or other 

communications device by an employee while 

on the shop floor is prohibited, other than 

a Push-to-Talk communications device issued 

by the Company for work-related purposes, 

and only where authorized by the Company and 

permitted by law. 
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Federal and State law supersede the above 

policy.   

 

4.  On the morning of July 29, 2015, Ms. McMillan was 

driving a route that went through the Naval Air Station in 

Pensacola, Florida.  At that time, the navy base had been on 

alert status for approximately one month.  As a result, every 

vehicle entering the navy base had to be searched, and that 

caused Ms. McMillan’s bus to run behind schedule. 

5.  At approximately 10:30 that morning, Ms. McMillan 

needed to use a bathroom and called a dispatcher via a radio 

provided by ECAT.   

6.  The dispatcher contacted by Ms. McMillan was not 

receptive to her request for a bathroom break and cut off 

communications. 

7.  Because Ms. McMillan was unsuccessful in re-

establishing contact with the dispatcher over the radio, she 

used her personal cell phone to call a coworker, Elaine Wiggins.  

Ms. McMillan was hoping that Ms. Wiggins could assist her with 

contacting an ECAT general manager. 

8.  At this point in time, the bus driven by Ms. McMillan 

was in traffic and moving.  In other words, it was not “secured” 

by being in the neutral/park position with the emergency brake 

on. 
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9.  Diane Hall was an assistant general manager for ECAT 

during the time period at issue, and Ms. Hall talked to 

Ms. McMillan via Ms. Wiggins’ cell phone.   

10.  Ms. Hall stated to Ms. McMillan that the route she was 

driving had a pre-arranged break point at a bowling alley and 

that Ms. McMillan could use a bathroom there.   

11.  It is possible that Ms. McMillan would not have 

suffered any consequences for her violation of the cell phone 

policy but for a customer complaint provided to ECAT on July 28, 

2015. 

12.  Roberta Millender has been a customer service 

representative at ECAT for the last four years.   

13.  On July 28, 2015, at 12:25 p.m., Ms. Millender 

received a phone call from a customer who reported that the bus 

driver for Route 57 left the bus at approximately 11:00 a.m. in 

order to smoke a cigarette, even though the bus was 25 minutes 

behind schedule. 

14.  Ms. McMillan also drives that route.  

15.  ECAT’s buses are equipped with video cameras.  

Therefore, ECAT reviewed the videotape from the Route 57 bus in 

order to investigate the complaint.   

16.  Because the videotapes are on a continuous loop, ECAT 

had to pull video corresponding to days before and after 

July 28, 2015.  While looking for the incident on July 28, 2015, 
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that led to the customer complaint, an ECAT employee noticed 

that Ms. McMillan was using her cell phone on July 29, 2015.   

17.  There is no dispute that Ms. McMillan is not the bus 

driver who took the cigarette break on July 28, 2015.
3/
  

18.  On July 30, 2015, ECAT began an investigation of 

Ms. McMillan’s cell phone use.  ECAT notified Ms. McMillan that 

she would continue to work during the investigation.   

19.  Via a letter dated August 3, 2015, Mike Crittenden, 

ECAT’s General Manager, notified Ms. McMillan that she was being 

terminated for violating Article 52 of the labor agreement.  

Mr. Crittenden’s letter deemed Ms. McMillan’s cell phone use to 

be a violation of section 1 which prohibited cell phone use 

while a transit vehicle is not secured.  In addition, 

Mr. Crittenden’s letter noted that the termination was effective 

immediately. 

20.  During the final hearing in this matter, Ms. McMillan 

was unable to present any evidence that any other similarly-

situated bus drivers had not been terminated for using a cell 

phone while the buses they were driving were unsecured.   

21.  Mr. Crittenden testified that 4 drivers have been 

terminated for violating section 1 of Article 52 since the labor 

agreement has been in place.  Three of those drivers were 

African-American (two females and one male), and one was a 

Caucasian female.   
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22.  Mr. Crittenden was unaware of any driver being 

retained by ECAT after violating the cell phone policy.
4/
   

23.  In addition to Mr. Crittenden, Ms. McMillan called 

three other ECAT employees, none of whom were aware of any bus 

driver being retained after violating the cell phone policy.    

24.  The greater weight of the evidence demonstrates that 

Ms. McMillan was not discharged because of her race.   

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

25.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida 

Statutes (2016),
5/
 and Florida Administrative Code Rule 60Y-

4.016(1). 

26.  The State of Florida, under the legislative scheme 

contained in sections 760.01–760.11 and 509.092, Florida 

Statutes, known as the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (“the 

FCRA”), incorporates and adopts the legal principles and 

precedents established in the federal anti-discrimination laws 

specifically set forth under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, as amended.  42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq. 

27.  Section 760.10 prohibits discrimination “against any 

individual with respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or 

privileges of employment, because of such individual's race, 
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color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status.”  § 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat. 

28.  Ms. McMillan alleges that she was the victim of 

disparate treatment.  See Reeves v. C.H. Robinson Worldwide, 

Inc., 594 F.3d 798, 808 n.2 (11th Cir. 2010)(en banc)(“We 

reiterate that disparate treatment under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-

2(a)(1) is the proper framework under which to evaluate hostile 

work environment claims.”).  The United States Supreme Court has 

noted that “[d]isparate treatment . . . is the most easily 

understood type of discrimination.  The employer simply treats 

some people less favorably than others because of their race, 

color, religion, sex, or [other protected characteristic].”  

Teamsters v. U.S., 431 U.S. 324, 335 n.15 (1977).   

29.  Liability in a disparate treatment case “depends on 

whether the protected trait . . . actually motivated the 

employer's decision.”  Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507 U.S. 604, 

610 (1993).  “The ultimate question in every employment 

discrimination case involving a claim of disparate treatment is 

whether the plaintiff was the victim of intentional 

discrimination.”  Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 

530 U.S. 133, 153 (2000). 

30.  A party may prove unlawful race discrimination by 

direct or circumstantial evidence.  Smith v. Fla. Dep’t of 

Corr., Case No. 2:07-cv-631 (M.D. Fla. May 27, 2009); 2009 U.S. 
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Dist. LEXIS 44885 (M.D. Fla. 2009).  When a petitioner alleges 

disparate treatment under the FCRA, the petitioner must prove 

that his or her race “actually motivated the employer’s 

decision.  That is, the [petitioner’s race] must have 

‘actually played a role [in the employer’s decision-making] 

process and had a determinative influence on the outcome.’”  

Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 

141 (quoting Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507 U.S. at 610) 

(alteration in original). 

31.  Direct evidence is evidence that, “if believed, proves 

[the] existence of [a] fact in issue without inference or 

presumption.”  Burrell v. Bd. of Trs. of Ga. Mil. Coll., 

125 F.3d 1390, 1393 (11th Cir. 1997).  Direct evidence consists 

of “only the most blatant remarks, whose intent could be nothing 

other than to discriminate” on the basis of an impermissible 

factor.  Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578, 582 (11th Cir. 

1989).   

32.  There is no direct evidence of unlawful race 

discrimination in the instant case.  That is not uncommon 

because “direct evidence of intent is often unavailable.”  

Shealy v. City of Albany, 89 F.3d 804, 806 (11th Cir. 1996).  

Accordingly, those who claim to be victims of intentional 

discrimination “are permitted to establish their cases through 
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inferential and circumstantial proof.”  Kline v. Tenn. Valley 

Auth., 128 F.3d 337, 348 (6th Cir. 1997). 

33.  To prove unlawful discrimination by circumstantial 

evidence, a party must establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence.  If 

successful, this creates a presumption of discrimination.  Then 

the burden shifts to the employer to offer a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for the adverse employment action.  If the 

employer meets that burden, then the presumption disappears and 

the employee must prove that the legitimate reasons were a 

pretext.  Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 

25 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009).  Facts that are sufficient to establish a 

prima facie case must be adequate to permit an inference of 

discrimination.  Id. 

34.  Under the McDonnell Douglas framework, one can 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination by demonstrating 

that:  (a) she is a member of a protected class; (b) she was 

qualified for the position held; (c) she was subjected to an 

adverse employment action; and (d) other similarly-situated 

employees, who are not members of the protected group, were 

treated more favorably.  See McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 

411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973).  “When comparing similarly situated 

individuals to raise an inference of discriminatory motivation, 

these individuals must be similarly situated in all relevant 
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respects.”  Jackson v. BellSouth Telecomm., 372 F.3d 1250, 

1273 (11th Cir. 2004).    

35.  The first three elements of Ms. McMillan’s 

discrimination claim are not in dispute.  As a result, the 

instant case turns on whether Ms. McMillan can demonstrate that 

ECAT treated similarly-situated employees more favorably.   

36.  As discussed above, there was no evidence that ECAT 

has not terminated any bus drivers who violated the cell phone 

policy.  Instead, the testimony demonstrated that there have 

been four instances since the labor agreement took effect on 

October 23, 2013 of bus drivers (including Ms. McMillan) 

violating the cell phone policy, and ECAT terminated each 

driver.
6/
   

37.  Accordingly, Ms. McMillan failed to prove her 

disparate treatment claim.  See Jones v. Bessemer Carraway Med. 

Ctr., 137 F.3d 1306, 1311 (11th Cir. 1998)(noting that “[i]f 

Plaintiff fails to identify similarly situated, nonminority 

employees who were treated more favorably, her case must fail 

because the burden is on her to establish her prima facie 

case.”).
7/
   

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 
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Relations issue a final order dismissing Addie L. McMillan’s 

Petition for Relief from an Unlawful Employment Practice.   

DONE AND ENTERED this 31th day of May, 2017, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   
G. W. CHISENHALL 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 31th day of May, 2017. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  First Transit Inc. does business as Escambia County Area 

Transit.  

 
2/
  The Commission appears to have deemed Ms. McMillan’s 

reference to “medical problems” in her Charge of Discrimination 

as an allegation that ECAT denied her a reasonable 

accommodation.  However, Ms. McMillan’s testimony at the final 

hearing indicated this allegation is more appropriately 

described as a retaliation claim.   

 
3/
  Ms. McMillan argued during the hearing that ECAT should not 

have disciplined her because she was not the subject of the 

customer complaint that led ECAT to examine the video from the 

bus she drove.     

 
4/
  Mr. Crittenden testified that the African-American male 

driver who was terminated for violating the cell phone policy 

was involved in an earlier incident in which a customer filed a 

complaint alleging that he had been improperly using his cell 
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phone.  Because that complaint could not be substantiated, the 

driver received verbal counseling rather than a termination.     

 
5/
  Unless stated otherwise, all statutory citations are to the 

2016 edition of the Florida Statutes.   

 
6/
  Ms. McMillan’s Petition for Relief also contained an 

allegation that ECAT discriminated against her because of her 

age.  However, this claim cannot serve as a basis for relief 

because Ms. McMillan was unable to demonstrate that ECAT did not 

fire any other bus drivers who violated the cell phone policy.  

Likewise, to whatever extent that Ms. McMillan alleged any other 

basis on which ECAT discriminated against her, such a claim 

would be meritless because Ms. McMillan was unable to 

demonstrate any disparate treatment.     

 
7/
  In the last sentence of her Charge of Discrimination, 

Ms. McMillan stated the following:  “I was experiencing problems 

with the medical problems I received on the job previously this 

year.”  During the final hearing, Ms. McMillan substantially 

expanded on that statement by testifying that she had been 

involved in an accident and put on light duty.  While on 

light duty, Ms. McMillan was using a rolling chair and “flipped 

over.”  During the final hearing, Ms. McMillan alleged that 

her termination was in retaliation for Ms. McMillan having a 

workers’ compensation claim.  However, the undersigned did 

not consider the statement in Ms. McMillan’s Charge of 

Discrimination to be sufficient to put ECAT on notice that she 

was alleging that her termination was retaliation for her filing 

a workers’ compensation claim.  See generally Trevisani v. Dep’t 

of Health, 908 So. 2d 1108, 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005)(reversing a 

final order and directing that a complaint be dismissed because 

the administrative complaint at issue “did not contain any 

specific factual allegations that Appellant failed to retain 

possession of the medical records.  The single reference to the 

statute without supporting factual allegations was not 

sufficient to place Appellant on notice of the charges against 

him.”).   

 

Nevertheless, even if ECAT was sufficiently on notice of 

this allegation, the undersigned would conclude that Ms. 

McMillan has failed to establish a retaliation claim.  In order 

to establish a prima facie case for retaliation, a petitioner 

must show that she engaged in a statutorily protected activity, 

that an adverse employment action occurred, and that the adverse 

action was causally related to the petitioner’s protected 

activities.  Because the evidence indicated that ECAT has 
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terminated every bus driver who violated the labor agreement’s 

prohibition against cell phone use, Ms. McMillan cannot 

establish that her termination resulted from her workers’ 

compensation claim.   

 

 

COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

Room 110 

4075 Esplanade Way 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

Addie Landrun McMillan 

710 West Jordan Street 

Pensacola, Florida  32501 

(eServed) 

 

Matthew Dunning, EEO Manager 

First Transit, Inc. 

600 Vine Street, Suite 1400 

Cincinnati, Ohio  45202 

(eServed) 

 

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

HASSAN HABIBI, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

AUTO CLUB GROUP, 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 17-0018 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

The final hearing in this matter was conducted before 

J. Bruce Culpepper, Administrative Law Judge of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings, pursuant to sections 120.569 and 

120.57(1), Florida Statutes (2016),
1/
 on March 23, 2017, by video 

teleconference with sites in Tallahassee and Orlando, Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Hassan Sarfraz Habibi, pro se 

                 Post Office Box 950033 

                 Lake Mary, Florida  32795 

 

For Respondent:  Christine E. Howard, Esquire 

                 Fisher & Phillips LLP 

                 Suite 2350 

                 101 East Kennedy Boulevard 

                 Tampa, Florida  33602 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether Petitioner, Hassan Habibi, was subject to an 

unlawful employment practice by Respondent, Auto Club Group, 
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based on his race, religion, or national origin in violation of 

the Florida Civil Rights Act. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On May 12, 2016, Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination 

with the Florida Commission on Human Relations (the “Commission”) 

alleging that Respondent, Auto Club Group (the “Auto Club”), 

violated the Florida Civil Rights Act by discriminating against 

him based on his race, religion, or national origin. 

On December 6, 2016, the Commission notified Petitioner that 

no reasonable cause existed to believe that the Auto Club had 

committed an unlawful employment practice. 

On January 3, 2017, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief 

with the Commission alleging a discriminatory employment 

practice.  The Commission transmitted the Petition to the 

Division of Administrative Hearings (“DOAH”) to conduct a  

chapter 120 evidentiary hearing. 

The final hearing was held on March 23, 2017.  At the final 

hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf.  Petitioner’s 

Exhibit 1 was admitted into evidence.  The Auto Club presented 

the testimony of Sherry Latour, Jami Mieser, Amy Thornhill, and 

Jeanette Wieland.  Auto Club Exhibits 1 through 19 were admitted 

into evidence. 

A two-volume Transcript of the final hearing was filed on 

May 1, 2017.  At the close of the hearing, the parties were 
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advised of a ten-day timeframe following receipt of the hearing 

transcript at DOAH to file post-hearing submittals.  Both parties 

timely filed Proposed Recommended Orders which were duly 

considered in preparing this Recommended Order. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  The Auto Club is affiliated with the American Automobile 

Association (“AAA”), a national not-for-profit organization that 

provides its members with benefits relating to travel, emergency 

roadside assistance, and insurance coverage. 

2.  Petitioner initiated this matter alleging that the Auto 

Club discriminated against him based on his race, religion, or 

national origin.  Petitioner was born in Pakistan.  He is a 

Muslim. 

3.  On April 21, 2015, the Auto Club hired Petitioner as a 

temporary employee through Randstad, a third-party employee 

staffing firm. 

4.  The Auto Club placed Petitioner in the position of a 

Membership Service Representative at its membership services call 

center in Heathrow, Florida.  Generally, a Membership Service 

Representative is responsible for handling, processing, and 

resolving incoming calls from Auto Club members. 

5.  Petitioner’s last day of work for the Auto Club was  

May 14, 2015, three and a half weeks after he began his job. 
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6.  Petitioner spent his first two weeks with the Auto Club 

in a training class learning how to properly handle and respond 

to service calls from Auto Club members.  Petitioner’s training 

class consisted of approximately 15 people.  His instructor was 

Amy Thornhill.  Petitioner reported to Jeanette Wieland, Manager 

of the Membership Service Customer Interaction Center. 

7.  At first, Petitioner sat in the back of his training 

classroom.  However, he soon requested to relocate after he 

became increasingly distracted by the clicking of a pen by 

another trainee.  Ms. Thornhill facilitated Petitioner’s request 

and moved him to the front of the room.  She also advised the 

class to be respectful of the other trainees. 

8.  On May 13, 2015, Petitioner was scheduled to leave the 

training class and begin handling live calls on the services call 

center floor.  However, Petitioner called in sick that day and 

did not report to work. 

9.  While he was out, Petitioner composed an e-mail for  

Ms. Wieland.  Petitioner wrote that he believed problems that he 

had experienced at a job he recently held at Aon Hewitt had 

followed him to the Auto Club. 

10.  In an attachment to his e-mail, Petitioner listed 

several “bizarre things” and objectionable behavior he was 

experiencing at the Auto Club.  Petitioner believed that on 

either April 21 or 22, 2015, someone from Aon Hewitt had appeared 
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at the Auto Club office and was “brainwashing” people to harass 

and intimidate him (the same way he was harassed at Aon Hewitt).  

Petitioner advised that this person might have been seeking 

revenge against him.   

11.  Petitioner proposed that he be allowed to review the 

Auto Club video surveillance footage of the parking lot on  

April 21 and 22, 2015, with the Lake Mary Police Department, the 

Seminole County Sheriff’s Office, and/or Auto Club security.  

Petitioner believed that the video would lead to the arrest and 

prosecution of the perpetrators who were brainwashing Auto Club 

employees and had damaged his car in the Auto Club parking lot. 

12.  Finally, Petitioner complained about how he was treated 

by several trainees in his training class including Sherry 

Latour, “Edgardo,” and “Judith.” 

13.  Petitioner returned to work the next day on May 14, 

2015.  He reported to the call center floor for his first day 

taking live customer service calls.  Unfortunately, Petitioner 

found his work shift extremely disconcerting.  After he began 

handling phone calls, a man named “Terrance” sat next to him.  

Petitioner recounted that Terrance began loudly conversing with a 

nearby friend in such a disruptive and distracting manner that 

Petitioner could not hear the customers speaking over the 

telephone.  Petitioner became very concerned that his quality 

assurance scores would decrease. 
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14.  Petitioner recounted that Terrence never spoke directly 

to him.  However, Petitioner was alarmed to hear Terrance mention 

the e-mail that he had sent to Ms. Wieland the previous day.  

Terrance ignored Petitioner’s pleas for quiet. 

15.  At the final hearing, Petitioner proclaimed that 

Terrance was intentionally placed next to him to prevent him from 

doing his job.  Petitioner accused Ms. Wieland of deliberately 

using Terrance in retaliation for the complaints he raised in his 

May 13, 2015, e-mail.  Petitioner alleged that Ms. Wieland 

directed Terrance to be so disruptive that Petitioner would be 

too scared to return to work the next day. 

16.  Petitioner met with Ms. Wieland on May 14, 2015, around 

5:00 p.m. during his mid-shift break.  During their meeting, 

Petitioner repeated that he strongly believed that someone from 

Aon Hewitt had been brainwashing Auto Club employees to harass 

and intimidate him.  Petitioner also complained that this person 

had damaged his car in the Auto Club parking lot.  Petitioner 

again requested that he be allowed to review the Auto Club 

surveillance video of the parking lot to try and identify the 

individual. 

17.  Petitioner also complained that on several occasions 

while he was in the Auto Club cafeteria, Edgardo and Judith threw 

plastic knives at his feet.  Petitioner emphasized that this 

behavior occurred so much that Edgardo and Judith must have been 
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acting out on purpose.  Petitioner stressed that someone from Aon 

Hewitt was putting them up to it. 

18.  Ms. Wieland advised Petitioner to go the Lake Mary 

Police Department if he felt threatened.  In the meantime, she 

would check with Auto Club security regarding the surveillance 

videos.  Ms. Wieland also requested that he let her know 

immediately if anything else occurred while he was working at the 

Auto Club. 

19.  The next day, May 15, 2015, Petitioner called Randstad 

and explained that he had encountered several problems at the 

Auto Club.  Consequently, he did not believe it was worth 

continuing his employment there.  Shortly thereafter, a Randstad 

representative called Ms. Wieland and relayed that Petitioner did 

not feel safe at the Auto Club.  Therefore, he would not be 

returning to work. 

20.  On May 21, 2015, Petitioner e-mailed Ms. Wieland again.  

Petitioner expressed that the people who committed the “egregious 

acts” against him needed to be punished.  Petitioner beseeched 

Ms. Wieland to provide him Ms. Latour’s last name so that he 

could file civil charges against her.  Petitioner further 

contended that a former Randstad employee named “Victoria” may 

have been involved in Ms. Latour’s objectionable actions.  

Petitioner also indicated that two other male employees threw 

plastic knives and forks at his feet in the cafeteria in addition 
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to Edgardo and Judith.  Petitioner wanted these people to be 

punished.  Finally, Petitioner declared that when he used the 

restroom at the Auto Club, two male employees would come into the 

restroom and do exactly the same thing an employee at Aon Hewitt 

would do. 

21.  At the final hearing, Petitioner summarized the alleged 

discriminatory incidents that he endured during his tenure with 

the Auto Club to include the following: 

a.  On several occasions, Petitioner encountered Ms. Latour 

outside the men’s restroom.  Petitioner believed that she 

intentionally positioned herself to block his exit.  Petitioner 

surmised that Ms. Latour was attempting to have him commit 

unwanted physical contact with her. 

b.  On several occasions, Ms. Latour, Edgardo, and Judith 

stared at Petitioner while he was in the parking lot and watched 

him enter the office building. 

c.  Ms. Latour once asked Petitioner where Edgardo and 

Judith were sitting on the call center floor. 

d.  Ms. Latour and Ms. Thornhill held a secretive 

conversation of which Petitioner believed he was the subject. 

e.  Edgardo did not shut the bathroom stall while he was 

using the restroom (just like the people at Aon Hewitt). 

f.  In the Auto Club cafeteria, Edgardo and Judith dropped 

plastic forks and knives in front of Petitioner as he walked by.  
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Petitioner believed that they intentionally threw the utensils at 

his feet to intimidate and provoke him.  Petitioner believed that 

someone from Aon Hewitt put them up to it. 

g.  An extremely noisy fan was placed next to Petitioner on 

the call center floor which distracted him from his customer 

service calls.   

h.  On several occasions, a sports utility vehicle parked 

too close to his car in the parking lot which made opening his 

car door difficult.  (A similar incident occurred while 

Petitioner worked at Aon Hewitt.) 

i.  Someone scratched the bumper of his car while he was 

parked in the parking lot, perhaps to provoke him. 

22.  Finally, Petitioner asserted that the Auto Club engaged 

in a “massive and elaborate effort” to cover up and conceal the 

discriminatory acts of Ms. Latour.  Petitioner claimed that  

Ms. Latour was trying to blackmail or provoke him so that the 

Auto Club would fire him.  Petitioner was also frustrated that 

the Auto Club would not produce video surveillance from the 

restroom hallway which he asserted would support his claim. 

23.  Although Petitioner objected to the conduct of several 

individuals who worked at the Auto Club, at the final hearing, he 

specifically identified Ms. Latour as the only person who 

discriminated against him.  However, Petitioner acknowledged that 

he never specifically complained to anyone that he was being 



 

10 

harassed based on his race, religion, or national origin during 

the time he worked at the Auto Club.  Neither did Petitioner ever 

accuse Ms. Latour, Edgardo, or Judith of discriminating against 

him. 

24.  Petitioner never informed anyone working for the Auto 

Club that he was born in Pakistan.  On the other hand, Petitioner 

did recall a conversation with one co-worker (not Ms. Latour, or 

Edgardo, or Judith) during which he mentioned that he was Muslim. 

25.  At the final hearing, Petitioner explained that he did 

not realize that he was being illegally harassed until after he 

left the Auto Club.  Petitioner asserted that Ms. Latour’s 

objectionable behavior must have been based on his race because 

he was the only person in his training class who was of Asian and 

Pakistani origin or a Muslim.  Petitioner explained that  

Ms. Latour did not harass anyone else in their training class. 

26.  Amy Thornhill testified at the final hearing.   

Ms. Thornhill stated that she had no knowledge of Petitioner’s 

race, religion, or national origin during the time he worked for 

the Auto Club.  Ms. Thornhill further claimed that she never 

heard anyone make any comments about Petitioner’s race, religion, 

or national origin. 

27.  Ms. Thornhill recalled that Petitioner complained about 

a fellow trainee who was tapping a pen during his training class.  

She believed that she properly addressed the situation when she 
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allowed Petitioner to move to the front of the classroom.  She 

also cautioned the class to be mindful of their classmates. 

28.  Ms. Thornhill was aware that Ms. Latour was also in 

Petitioner’s training class.  Ms. Thornhill testified that she 

never observed Ms. Latour behave inappropriately towards 

Petitioner.  Neither did she and Ms. Latour ever discuss 

Petitioner’s race, religion, or national origin.  Ms. Thornhill 

did not remember Petitioner complaining to her about 

discrimination or harassment. 

29.  Ms. Latour, who is still employed with the Auto Club, 

testified at the final hearing.  Ms. Latour first met Petitioner 

in their 2015 training class.  Ms. Latour denied ever making any 

improper or offensive actions or comments to Petitioner.   

Ms. Latour denied that Edgardo or Judith encouraged her to 

provoke him.  Ms. Latour also asserted that she did not know 

Petitioner’s race, religion, or national origin while he worked 

at the Auto Club. 

30.  Ms. Latour further declared that she never blocked 

Petitioner’s exit from the men’s restroom.  She reported that the 

women’s restroom is directly across the hallway from the men’s 

restroom and surmised that perhaps that was the reason Petitioner 

encountered her in the hallway.  Ms. Latour also relayed that 

Auto Club employees routinely congregate in the hallway near the 

training area and the elevators.  Ms. Latour denied that she 
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participated in a conversation with Ms. Thornhill about 

Petitioner.  Ms. Latour also rejected Petitioner’s allegation 

that she purposefully watched him in the parking lot. 

31.  Despite the fact that Petitioner did not return to work 

after May 14, 2015, the Auto Club continued to investigate his 

complaints.  Jami Mieser, a Senior Employee Relations Specialist 

for the Auto Club, testified at the final hearing.  Ms. Mieser 

looked into the concerns Petitioner raised in his e-mails to  

Ms. Wieland in May 2015.  Ms. Mieser did not find any evidence 

substantiating Petitioner’s claims that Auto Club and Aon Hewitt 

employees were intentionally provoking or discriminating against 

him.  Ms. Mieser did not notify Petitioner of the results of her 

investigation in 2015.  Petitioner had left the Auto Club by the 

time she had completed her investigation. 

32.  Ms. Mieser also testified regarding the video 

surveillance of the Auto Club parking lot.  She explained that 

Auto Club security only maintained the video for approximately  

90 days.  Therefore, the videos are no longer available to help 

determine whether an individual purposefully damaged Petitioner’s 

car in April 2015. 

33.  Ms. Wieland testified at the final hearing and 

acknowledged that she did ask a man named Terrance to sit next  

to Petitioner on his first day on the call center floor.   

Ms. Wieland explained that she routinely places an experienced 



 

13 

Membership Service Representative next to a trainee to assist the 

new employee with any issues.  However, she denied instructing 

Terrance to disrupt Petitioner from doing his job or scare him 

away from the Auto Club.  Ms. Wieland also stated that Petitioner 

never complained about Terrence during their May 14, 2015, 

meeting. 

34.  Based on the competent substantial evidence in the 

record, the preponderance of the evidence does not establish that 

the Auto Club discriminated against Petitioner based on his race, 

religion, or national origin.  Accordingly, Petitioner failed to 

meet his burden of proving that the Auto Club discriminated 

against him in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

35.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

cause pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11(7), 

Florida Statutes.  See also Fla. Admin. Code R. 60Y-4.016. 

36.  Petitioner brings this matter alleging that the Auto 

Club discriminated against him based on his race, religion, or 

national origin in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 

1992 (“FCRA”).  The FCRA protects individuals from discrimination 

and retaliation in the workplace.  See §§ 760.10 and 760.11, Fla. 

Stat.  Section 760.10 states, in pertinent part: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 
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(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual’s race, color, religion, sex, 

pregnancy, national origin, age, handicap, or 

marital status. 

 

37.  The burden of proof in this administrative proceeding, 

absent a statutory directive to the contrary, is on the party 

asserting the affirmative of the issue.  Dep’t of Transp. v. 

J.W.C. Co., 396 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); see also Dep’t of 

Banking & Fin., Div. of Sec. & Investor Prot. v. Osborne Stern & 

Co., 670 So. 2d 932, 935 (Fla. 1996)(“The general rule is that a 

party asserting the affirmative of an issue has the burden of 

presenting evidence as to that issue.”).  See also Valenzuela v. 

GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 22 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) 

(citing Tex. Dep't of Cmty. Aff. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 253, 

101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981))(the ultimate burden of 

proving discrimination rests at all times with the plaintiff). 

38.  The preponderance of the evidence standard is applicable 

to this matter.  See § 120.57(1)(j), Fla. Stat. 

39.  The FCRA is patterned after Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, as amended.  Accordingly, Florida courts hold 

that federal decisions construing Title VII are applicable when 

considering claims under the FCRA.  Harper v. Blockbuster Entm't 

Corp., 139 F.3d 1385, 1387 (11th Cir. 1998); Valenzuela, 18 So. 
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3d at 21; and Fla. State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 925 n.1 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1996). 

40.  Based on allegations and testimony Petitioner presented 

at the final hearing, Petitioner asserts a hostile work 

environment claim.  A hostile work environment under Title VII is 

established “upon proof that the workplace is permeated with 

discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult, that is 

sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of the 

victim's employment and create an abusive working environment."  

Miller v. Kenworth of Dothan, Inc., 277 F.3d 1269, 1275 (11th Cir. 

2002). 

41.  In the absence of direct or statistical evidence of 

discriminatory intent (there is none here), Petitioner must rely 

on circumstantial evidence of discrimination to prove his case.  

For discrimination claims involving circumstantial evidence, 

Florida courts follow the three-part, burden-shifting framework 

set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 

S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973), and its progeny.  See also 

Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 21-22; and St. Louis v. Fla. Int'l 

Univ., 60 So. 3d 455, 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011). 

42.  Under the McDonnell Douglas framework, a petitioner 

bears the initial burden of establishing, by a preponderance of 

the evidence, a prima facie case of discrimination.  McDonnell 

Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802-04; see also Burke-Fowler v. Orange 
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Cnty., 447 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th Cir. 2006).  Demonstrating a 

prima facie case is not difficult, but rather only requires the 

petitioner “to establish facts adequate to permit an inference of 

discrimination.”  Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1562 (11th 

Cir. 1997). 

43.  To establish a prima facie claim for a hostile work 

environment, Petitioner must show that:  (1) he belongs to a 

protected group; (2) he was subjected to unwelcome harassment; 

(3) the harassment was based on the protected characteristic (his 

race, religion, or national origin); (4) the harassment was 

sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the terms and 

conditions of his employment and create a discriminatorily 

abusive working environment; and (5) the employer is responsible 

for such environment under a theory of either vicarious or direct 

liability.  Mitcham v. Univ. of S. Fla. Bd. of Trs., 71 F. Supp. 

3d 1306 (M.D. Fla. 2014); Miller, 277 F.3d at 1275. 

44.  The "severe or pervasive" element contains both a 

subjective and an objective component.  The employee must 

“'subjectively perceive' the harassment as sufficiently severe 

and pervasive to alter the terms or conditions of employment, and 

this subjective perception must be objectively reasonable."  

Mendoza v. Borden, Inc., 195 F.3d 1238, 1246 (11th Cir. 1999). 

45.  In evaluating the objective severity of the harassment, 

courts consider four factors:  "(1) the frequency of the conduct; 
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(2) the severity of the conduct; (3) whether the conduct is 

physically threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive 

utterance; and (4) whether the conduct unreasonably interferes 

with the employee's job performance."  Id.  "Courts should 

examine the conduct in context, not as isolated acts, and 

determine under the totality of the circumstances whether the 

harassing conduct is sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter 

the terms or conditions of the plaintiff's employment and create 

a hostile or abusive working environment."  Id. 

46.  However, it is a “bedrock principle that not all 

objectionable conduct or language amounts to discrimination under 

Title VII.”  Reeves v. C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Inc., 594 F.3d 

798, 809 (11th Cir. 2010).  Title VII is not a "general civility 

code."  Gupta v. Fla. Bd. of Regents, 212 F.3d 571, 583 (11th 

Cir. 2000).  "Simple teasing, offhand comments, and isolated 

incidents (unless extremely serious) will not amount to 

discriminatory changes in the terms and conditions of employment."  

Mitcham v. Univ. of S. Fla. Bd. of Trs., 71 F. Supp. 3d 1306, 1317 

(M.D. Fla. 2014); Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775, 

778, 118 S. Ct. 2275, 2283, 141 L. Ed. 2d 662 (1998).  Harassment 

constitutes employment discrimination only if the “workplace is 

permeated with discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult 

that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions 

of the victim’s employment and create an abusive work 
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environment.”  Harris v. Forklift Sys. Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 21 

(1993); see also Perry v. Harris Chernin, Inc., 126 F.3d 1010, 

1013 (7th Cir. 1997)(“The workplace that is actionable is the one 

that is hellish.”). 

47.  Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving that 

the objectionable conduct he experienced at the Auto Club was 

sufficiently severe or pervasive so as to alter the terms or 

conditions of his employment.  While Petitioner clearly, 

subjectively perceived the alleged harassment to be “severe and 

pervasive,” the evidence in the record does not demonstrate that 

his working environment was objectively hostile or abusive. 

48.  Petitioner undoubtedly did not appreciate encountering 

Ms. Latour in the hallway outside the men’s restroom.  Petitioner 

was disturbed by the plastic utensils that were dropped in the 

cafeteria.  Petitioner was frustrated with the parking situation.  

Petitioner objected to the volume with which Terrence talked on 

the call center floor.  However, the evidence did not establish 

that these isolated incidents were so “severe or pervasive” that 

they created a serious or material change in the terms or 

conditions of Petitioner’s job as a Membership Service 

Representative.  No evidence demonstrates that Petitioner was 

physically threatened or humiliated.  Neither did any of these 

episodes unreasonably interfere with his ability to perform his 

responsibilities in the service call center.  Furthermore, when 
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given the opportunity, the Auto Club demonstrated that it was 

willing to address and accommodate his grievances. 

49.  At most, the disagreeable conduct amounted to a 

personality clash between co-workers (mostly from Petitioner’s 

perspective).  Such interoffice strife is not sufficient to 

establish a hostile work environment claim under the FCRA or 

Title VII.  See e.g., McCollum v. Bolger, 794 F.2d 602, 610 (11th 

Cir. 1986)(“Title VII prohibits discrimination; it is not a  

shield against harsh treatment at the work place.  Personal 

animosity is not the equivalent of sex discrimination. . . .  The 

plaintiff cannot turn a personal feud into a sex discrimination 

case. . . .").  Consequently, the undersigned concludes that an 

objective, reasonable person would not find the conduct about 

which Petitioner complains created a hostile or abusive working 

environment.  Accordingly, Petitioner’s allegations do not 

substantiate a hostile work environment claim under the FCRA. 

50.  Further, Petitioner’s discrimination claim fails 

because he did not produce sufficient evidence that the alleged 

harassment was based on his protected class (race, religion, or 

national origin).  It is well-established that Title VII "does 

not prohibit harassment alone, however severe and pervasive.  

Instead, Title VII prohibits discrimination, including harassment 

that discriminates based on a protected category. . . ."  Reeves, 

594 F.3d at 809; see also Baldwin v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of 
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Ala., 480 F.3d 1287, 1301–02 (11th Cir. 2007)(“Title VII does not 

prohibit profanity alone, however profane.  It does not prohibit 

harassment alone, however severe and pervasive.  Instead,  

Title VII prohibits discrimination, including harassment that 

discriminates based on a protected category.”). 

51.  The evidence and testimony in the record does not 

identify any objectionable action or communication on the part of 

the Auto Club that was based on Petitioner’s race, religion, or 

national origin.  At the final hearing, Petitioner denounced  

Ms. Latour as the individual who discriminated against him.  

However, Petitioner never revealed his religion to Ms. Latour.  

Neither did he tell her that he was born in Pakistan.  Petitioner 

offers that he was the only Asian, Pakistani, or Muslim in his 

training class.  However, this fact alone is not enough to 

sustain a hostile work environment claim based on discrimination. 

52.  Regarding Petitioner’s retaliation claim, to establish 

a prima facie case of retaliation, Petitioner must demonstrate 

that:  (1) he engaged in statutorily protected activity;  

(2) he suffered a materially adverse employment action; and  

(3) there was a causal connection between the protected activity 

and the adverse employment action.  Kidd v. Mando Am. Corp.,  

731 F.3d 1196, 1211 (11th Cir. 2013); Webb-Edwards v. Orange 

Cnty. Sheriff’s Off., 525 F.3d 1013, 1028 (11th Cir. 2008).  An 

action is “materially adverse” if it might have dissuaded a 
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reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of 

discrimination.  Chapter 7 Trustee v. Gate Gourmet. Inc., 683 F.3d 

1249, 1258-59 (11th Cir. 2012). 

53.  As with his hostile work environment claim, Petitioner 

fails to prove a claim of retaliation.  Initially, no evidence 

establishes that Petitioner engaged in statutorily protected 

activity during his interactions with Ms. Wieland in May 2015.  

Petitioner did not express to her his objection to an unlawful 

employment practice.  While Petitioner wrote the term 

“harassment” in his e-mail on May 13, 2015, he did not 

specifically link his complaint to some discriminatory activity 

that was based on his race, religion, or national origin. 

54.  Further, Petitioner did not establish the requisite 

causal connection between his complaints to Ms. Wieland and his 

decision not to return to work on May 15, 2015.  Petitioner 

claims that Ms. Wieland retaliated against him when she tasked a 

“disruptive” employee to sit next to him on the call center 

floor.  However, the evidence in the record does not support 

Petitioner’s proposition that Ms. Wieland positioned Terrence 

next to Petitioner to make him quit his job.  Consequently, 

Petitioner did not prove that some action on the part of the Auto 

Club was sufficiently adverse to establish a claim of 

retaliation. 
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55.  As to a final point, the Auto Club did not terminate 

Petitioner’s employment.  Rather, Petitioner elected not to 

return to work on May 15, 2015.  The FCRA makes unlawful an 

employer’s actions “to discharge . . . or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with respect to compensation, 

terms, conditions, or privileges of employment.” (emphasis 

added).  See § 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat.  Consequently, to 

establish an adverse employment action under the FCRA, Petitioner 

must prove that he was “constructively discharged” from the Auto 

Club. 

56.  To prove a claim for constructive discharge, Petitioner 

must demonstrate that a discriminatory employer imposed working 

conditions that were "so intolerable that a reasonable person in 

[the employee's] position would have been compelled to resign."  

Fitz v. Pugmire Lincoln-Mercury, Inc., 348 F.3d 974, 977 (11th 

Cir. 2003).  Petitioner must show that he “quit in reasonable 

response to an employer-sanctioned adverse action officially 

changing [his] employment status or situation, for example, a 

humiliating demotion, extreme cut in pay, or transfer to a 

position in which he would face unbearable working conditions.”  

Pennsylvania State Police v. Suders, 542 U.S. 129, 134 (2004).  

Establishing a constructive discharge claim is a more onerous task 

than establishing a hostile work environment claim.  Bryant v. 

Jones, 575 F.3d 1281, 1298 (11th Cir. 2009).  Petitioner must 
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demonstrate a greater severity or pervasiveness of harassment than 

the minimum required to prevail on a hostile work environment 

claim.  Hipp v. Liberty Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 252 F.3d 1208,  

1231-32 (11th Cir. 2001). 

57.  Petitioner failed to prove that he was constructively 

discharged from his employment with the Auto Club.  Petitioner 

did not show that the working conditions he experienced (i.e., 

co-workers’ bathroom and dining etiquette, parking issues, noisy 

seatmates) were so intolerable that a reasonable person would 

have been compelled to resign.  The unpleasant conduct does not 

meet the high burden required to establish a constructive 

discharge.  Further, as discussed above, no evidence demonstrates 

that any of these actions related in any way to Petitioner’s 

race, religion, or national origin.  Consequently, Petitioner’s 

claim of a constructive discharge must fail. 

58.  Finally, at the final hearing, Petitioner expressed his 

frustration with the Auto Club’s unwillingness to punish  

Ms. Latour, Edgardo, and Judith, as well as its failure to 

produce videotapes of the hallway and the parking lot.  It should 

be noted, however, that in a proceeding under the FCRA, the court 

is “not in the business of adjudging whether employment decisions 

are prudent or fair.  Instead, [the court’s] sole concern is 

whether unlawful discriminatory animus motivates a challenged 

employment decision.”  Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., 
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Inc., 196 F.3d 1354, 1361 (11th Cir. 1999).  Not everything that 

makes an employee unhappy is an actionable adverse action.  Davis 

v. Town of Lake Park, Fla., 245 F.3d 1232, 1238 (11th Cir. 2001); 

see also Alexander v. Fulton Cnty., Ga., 207 F.3d 1303, 1341 

(11th Cir. 2000)(“[I]t is not the court's role to second-guess 

the wisdom of an employer's decisions as long as the decisions 

are not racially motivated.”). 

59.  Accordingly, the evidence on record does not 

substantiate Petitioner’s claim that Auto Club discriminated 

against him because of his race, religion, or national origin.  

Petitioner failed to offer evidence demonstrating that the 

alleged harassment was sufficiently “severe or pervasive” to 

alter the terms and conditions of his employment or that he was 

subjected to unwelcomed harassment based on his membership in a 

protected group.  Further, the evidence does not establish that 

the Auto Club constructively discharged Petitioner. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations issue a final order finding that Respondent, Auto Club 

Service Group, did not commit an unlawful employment practice 

against Petitioner, Hassan Habibi, and dismiss his Petition for 

Relief. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 31st day of May, 2017, in Tallahassee, 

Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

J. BRUCE CULPEPPER 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 31st day of May, 2017. 

 

 

ENDNOTE 

 
1/
  All statutory references are to Florida Statutes (2016), 
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Brett Purcell Owens, Esquire 

Fisher & Phillips LLP 

Suite 2350 
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Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

VERONICA BELL OGBEIFUN, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

ONE HOPE UNITED, 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 16-6584 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

Administrative Law Judge, John D. C. Newton, II, of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings (DOAH), conducted the final 

hearing in this matter on April 4, 2017, by video conference at 

sites in Tallahassee and Lakeland, Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Veronica Bell Ogbeifun, pro se 

                 1012 Kentucky Street 

                 Haines City, Florida  33844 

 

For Respondent:  Andrew R. Lincoln, Esquire 

                      Jackson Lewis 

                      Suite 2200 

                      100 South Ashley Drive 

                      Tampa, Florida  33602 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

A.  Did Respondent, One Hope United (One Hope), discriminate 

against Petitioner, Veronica Bell Ogbeifun, on account of her 

race? 
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B.  Did One Hope retaliate against Ms. Ogbeifun for filing a 

complaint of discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations (Commission)? 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

By Charge of Discrimination dated January 13, 2016, and 

amended March 14, 2016, Ms. Ogbeifun charged One Hope with 

discriminating against her in employment on account of her race 

and sex.  She also charged One Hope with retaliating against her 

for filing an earlier Charge of Discrimination with the 

Commission.  The Commission issued a Determination of No Cause.  

Ms. Ogbeifun filed a Petition for Relief from an Unlawful 

Employment Practice.  The petition claimed One Hope discriminated 

against her on account of her race and retaliated against her for 

filing an earlier charge.  The petition did not claim sex 

discrimination.  The Commission transmitted the petition to DOAH 

to conduct a final hearing.  The undersigned conducted the final 

hearing on April 4, 2017. 

Ms. Ogbeifun testified on her own behalf.  She presented no 

other witnesses.  Ms. Ogbeifun’s Exhibits 1 through 4,  

6 through 11, part of Exhibit 12, and Exhibit 13 were admitted 

into evidence.  One Hope presented the testimony of Muriah  

Davis-Deuth, Rebecca Kampman, Michelle Ramirez, Gail Werley, and 

Cristina Villazan.  One Hope’s Exhibits 9, 10, and 12 through 23 

were admitted into evidence.  The parties timely filed proposed 
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recommended orders.  They have been considered in the preparation 

of this Recommended Order.  

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Ms. Ogbeifun’s Employment with One Hope 

1.  One Hope provides a variety of community-based services 

for families and children.  They include:  early childhood 

education, intervention, child development programs, child 

placement and residential care.  One Hope has several offices in 

Florida and operates in many states.  Its headquarters are in 

Chicago, Illinois.  

2.  Ms. Ogbeifun began working for One Hope as a Program 

Specialist on July 6, 2009.  At the time she began work,  

Ms. Ogbeifun went by the name Veronica Bryan Bell.  One Hope 

records identified her by that name.  Ms. Ogbeifun worked in 

Circuit 10, which consists of Highlands and Hardee counties in 

Florida. 

3.  The services that One Hope’s Circuit 10 office provides 

include foster care; in-home services for abused, abandoned and 

neglected children; and other services for families and children.  

Ms. Ogbeifun was responsible for staffing cases and implementing 

permanency planning for the families and children in the system 

of care.  She was a salaried employee, paid for an entire day if 

she worked at least one hour per day. 
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4.  Ms. Ramirez, the Director of Programs for Circuit 10, 

was Ms. Ogbeifun’s supervisor.  Ms. Ogbeifun reported directly to 

Ms. Ramirez.  Ms. Ogbeifun’s employment obligations included 

providing her schedule to Ms. Ramirez each week and advising  

Ms. Ramirez if she was going to deviate from the schedule.  This 

duty included advising Ms. Ramirez if she was leaving work before 

the scheduled quitting time of 5:00 p.m. or not coming to work. 

Claimed Violation of Conflict of Interest Agreement 

5.  Ms. Ogbeifun also owned and operated a business called 

Restoration Family Services.  The business conducted adoption 

home studies.  Restoration Family Services and One Hope provided 

related services and served similar clients.  One Hope permitted 

Ms. Ogbeifun to operate her business. 

6.  To protect against conflicts of interest, Ms. Ogbeifun 

and One Hope executed a conflict of interest agreement.  The 

conditions included:  (1) Ms. Ogbeifun would not provide services 

to prospective adoptive parents in Circuit 10 or for children or 

parents outside of Circuit 10 but served by One Hope or Kids Hope 

United
1/
; (2) referral sources could not be generated from 

business relationships of One Hope or Kid’s Hope United; and  

(3) Ms. Ogbeifun could not perform work for her business during 

her One Hope working hours or use One Hope equipment. 
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7.  The specific requirements about One Hope's equipment and 

performing Restoration Family Services work during One Hope work 

hours are: 

Work or [sic] on behalf of Restoration Family 

Services, Inc., cannot be done during hours 

required of your employment with Kids Hope 

United, which could include non-traditional 

hours as needed. 

 

Work for or on behalf of Restoration Family 

Services, Inc. cannot be done during time in 

which you are also compensated by Kids Hope 

United. 

 

[Ms. Ogbeifun may not] [u]tilize Kids Hope 

United equipment for or on behalf of 

Restoration Family Services, Inc. 

 

8.  One Hope claims that Ms. Ogbeifun performed Restoration 

Family Services work while compensated by One Hope or using One 

Hope equipment for Restoration Family Services.  It claims this 

was one reason for terminating Ms. Ogbeifun.  The evidence to 

support this claim is too flimsy to be persuasive.   

9.  Ms. Davis-Deuth says she saw what she thought were 

Restoration Family Services files on Ms. Ogbeifun’s desk.  If the 

witness was correct that the files she saw were Restoration 

Family Services files, there is no evidence that Ms. Ogbeifun was 

working on them. 

10.  On February 18, 2016, Ms. Ogbeifun filed corporate 

papers for her business while on leave.  Interpreting the 

agreement to prohibit working on Restoration Family Services 
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business while on leave is not a reasonable interpretation of the 

agreement. 

11.  A witness testified that Ms. Ogbeifun had files for 

some of her permitted work for clients from another circuit in 

One Hope’s statewide database with a time stamp showing entry in 

the database during what should have been Ms. Ogbeifun’s work 

hours.  The testimony does not indicate that the witness actually 

saw the information.  It begins “There was a time that there were 

some home studies found in our statewide database. . . .”  The 

testimony is hearsay.  The evidence does not prove that  

Ms. Ogbeifun entered the files in the system.   

12.  This fact would have been easy enough to prove if One 

Hope had presented copies of the date-stamped documents in its 

database.  The failure to do so is significant.   

13.  One Hope relies on testimony of Ms. Ramirez that  

other employees reported to her that they saw Ms. Ogbeifun 

completing home studies at the One Hope office.  The hearsay 

testimony, short on details, cannot support a finding of fact.  

The people who allegedly made the reports were One Hope  

employees who One Hope could easily have produced to testify.  

One, Ms. Davis-Deuth, did testify.  And she did not testify that 

she saw Ms. Ogbeifun working on the files.   

14.  On February 3 and 17, 2016, Ms. Ogbeifun took leave.  

Each time she e-mailed Ms. Ramirez before 7:00 a.m. to advise her 
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that we could not make it in because of family matters.  One Hope 

argues that these facts support an inference that Ms. Ogbeifun 

was taking off to work on her other business.  The evidence does 

not support the inference. 

15.  The claim that One Hope terminated Ms. Ogbeifun for 

violating the conflict of interest agreement is not credible.  It 

relies upon uncorroborated hearsay.  It advances alleged facts 

that One Hope could easily have proved through its own documents 

and employees.  Failure to do so undermines the credibility of 

the claims.   

16.  The claim that violation of the conflict of interest 

agreement had something to do with Ms. Ogbeifun’s termination is 

recently crafted for this proceeding.  One Hope’s statement of 

position submitted to the Commission makes no mention of this 

claim.  Perhaps this explains the fact that One Hope did not 

include in its exhibits the termination documents to which the 

statement of position refers.  This contributes to finding the 

evidence does not support the claim. 

Earlier Complaint 

17.  Ms. Ogbeifun filed a complaint of discrimination with 

the Commission on January 13, 2016.  It described a number of 

ways in which she believed that Ms. Ramirez had discriminated 

against her and other African-American employees.  The complaint 

identifies Veronica Ogbeifun as the complainant.   
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18.  The Commission forwarded the complaint to One Hope’s 

corporate offices in Chicago.  At the time of the discharge that 

is the subject of this proceeding, the managers in One Hope’s 

District 10 office did not know of the complaint. 

Confrontation with Ms. Kampman 

19.  One Hope employees in the Highlands County office often 

hold interoffice events that included food and beverages.  The 

employees prepare and serve some items in the breakroom, which is 

also a kitchen.  The employees conduct the events in a conference 

room or the breakroom.  Employees are supposed to clean up after 

an event. 

20.  Ms. Ogbeifun organized an event in the Highlands County 

office to celebrate Valentine’s Day and “Cultural Day.” 

Ms. Ogbeifun organized Cultural Day as part of Black History 

month.  She and fellow employees held the combination Valentine’s 

and Cultural Day event on Monday, February 15, 2016.  They did 

not clean the breakroom. 

21.  On February 18, 2016, Ms. Davis-Deuth, a fellow 

employee, sent an e-mail to all employees in Circuit 10 about the 

messy, unclean condition of the breakroom.  The e-mail stated 

that dishes had been left in the sink since Monday, the day of 

the Cultural Day event, and were causing the building to smell.   
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Ms. Davis-Deuth’s e-mail asked the people who left the dishes in 

the sink to take care of them.  It observed that all participants 

in an event have a responsibility to clean up. 

22.  Employees held a baby shower in the breakroom on 

February 23, 2016.  The participants did not clean up. 

23.  February 25, 2016, Ms. Kampman, a Case Manager 

Supervisor, sent an e-mail to all Circuit 10 employees about the 

dirty breakroom.  The first paragraph described the dirty dishes 

and food left in the breakroom after the shower and the Valentine 

Day/Cultural Day event.  The e-mail described the cleaning event 

participants should conduct and described the reasons people 

should fulfill their clean-up responsibilities.  It concluded by 

reminding employees that the cleaning crew did not clean up food 

and that she or “Rebecca B.” would make sure dish soap and other 

cleaning items were available in the breakroom. 

24.  Ms. Ogbeifun was one of 40 employees to whom the e-mail 

was addressed.  Nonetheless Ms. Ogbeifun concluded that the  

e-mail singled her out and got upset.  She decided to confront 

Ms. Kampman. 

25.  Shortly after receiving the e-mail, Ms. Ogbeifun went 

to Ms. Kampman’s office.  Ms. Ogbeifun was visibly agitated and 

stood in the doorway.  She spoke loudly enough that at least one 

nearby employee heard her.  But she was not yelling.  She 

repeatedly accused Ms. Kampman of singling her out.  Ms. Kampman 
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explained several times that she sent the e-mail to all 

employees, mentioned two events, and addressed a repeating 

office-wide problem.  She asked Ms. Ogbeifun to re-read the  

e-mail.  After a while, Ms. Kampman told Ms. Ogbeifun she was not 

going to discuss the matter further.  Ms. Ogbeifun left the 

doorway and returned to her office. 

26.  After returning to her office, Ms. Ogbeifun packed some 

personal belongings and left the office around 3:00 p.m. or 3:30 

p.m.  In the preceding days, she had removed other personal 

belongings, such as photographs, from her office.   

27.  Ms. Ogbeifun did not advise her supervisor,  

Ms. Ramirez, that she was leaving.  She did not activate her  

out-of-office message. 

28.  Later that afternoon, the office sent Ms. Ogbeifun five 

e-mails. 

29.  The first e-mail, sent to all employees from  

Ms. Ramirez at 3:17 p.m., was one of three about a meeting with 

the new Chief Human Resource Officer and the Florida Executive 

Director.  It reminded employees of the meeting and stated that 

the meeting was mandatory. 
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30.  The second e-mail was Ms. Kampman’s reply to  

Ms. Ramirez advising her that “849” was scheduled for staffings 

at the same day and time as the meetings with the resource 

officer and the executive director.  The reply asked if the 

staffings would be set for a new day.  Ms. Kampman copied  

Ms. Ogbeifun with that e-mail. 

31.  The third e-mail, sent by Ms. Ramirez, replied to  

Ms. Kampman’s e-mail.  Ms. Ramirez said that the staffings’ times 

would have to be changed.  Ms. Kampman copied Ms. Ogbeifun.  The 

three e-mails only provided information.  None requested a 

response or was the sort of communication that called for a 

response. 

32.  The fourth e-mail, sent at 4:19 p.m. by Ms. Ramirez, to 

Ms. Ogbeifun and two other employees, asked them to submit 

overdue time sheets.  The e-mail did not request a response and 

was not of the sort that called for an immediate response. 

33.  Ms. Ogbeifun did not respond to the four e-mails.  She 

also did not communicate with the office after leaving on 

February 25, 2016. 

34.  Ms. Ramirez sent the fifth e-mail.  It sought 

suggestions about a Permanency Staffing Form.  Ms. Werley sent an 

earlier elated e-mail at 10:22 a.m., February 25, 2016, to  

Ms. Ogbeifun, Ms. Davis-Deuth, and Ms. Ramirez advising that the 

form was “FINALLY ready for review,” at 4:31 p.m.  Ms. Ramirez 
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sent the fifth e-mail of the day, a follow-up on the morning 

staffing form e-mail from Ms. Werley.  It provided Ms. Ramirez’s 

thoughts on the form and asked for Ms. Ogbeifun’s thoughts.  

Neither e-mail expressed any urgency about responding.   

Ms. Ogbeifun did not respond.  

35.  Near the end of February 25, 2016, Ms. Ramirez called 

Ms. Villazan, Chief Human Resource Officer for One Hope.  She 

also contacted Eva Horner, One Hope’s Executive Director for 

Circuit 10.  The three discussed the afternoon’s events. 

36.  The three did not mention the January discrimination 

complaint during their discussions.  Ms. Ramirez and Ms. Horne 

were not aware of it because it went to the Chicago office.   

Ms. Villazan was not aware that the Veronica Ogbeifun who filed 

the complaint was the Veronica Bell whom they were discussing. 

37.  The three decided that Ms. Ogbeifun’s loud 

confrontation of Ms. Kampman supported termination. 

Job Abandonment 

38.  They also decided that Ms. Ogbeifun had abandoned her 

job because she was upset and left an hour and half early, had 

not responded to the four e-mails that did not call for a 

response, and did not respond within six working hours to the 

fifth e-mail, which did not call for an immediate response.   

39.  The facts do not support this conclusion.  Ms. Ogbeifun 

left work one and half hours early after an emotional 
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confrontation.  She took some personal belongings home.  And she 

did not respond to e-mails that did not require an immediate 

response.  Concluding Ms. Ogbeifun abandoned her job from those 

facts is unreasonable.  

40.  Ms. Ogbeifun returned to work on February 26, 2016.  

She was informed that she had been terminated. 

No Signs of Discrimination on Account of Race 

41.  The record does not contain evidence of racial 

epithets, use of racial stereotypes, comments about racial 

features, or any other direct evidence indicating that One Hope 

considered Ms. Ogbeifun’s race in deciding to terminate her. 

42.  Ms. Ogbeifun advanced a theory that One Hope treated 

African-American employees differently and worse than it treated 

Caucasian employees.  There is no competent, persuasive evidence 

in the record to support the theory. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

43.  Ms. Ogbeifun advances two claims.  First, she maintains 

that One Hope discriminated against her on account of her race by 

discharging her.  Second, she claims that One Hope retaliated 

against her for complaining of racial discrimination.  

44.  Sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes 

(2016),
2/
 grant DOAH jurisdiction over the subject matter of this 

proceeding and of the parties. 
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Discrimination on Account of Race 

45.  Section 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes, makes it 

unlawful for an employer to take adverse action against an 

individual because of the individual's race.  Section 760.10(7) 

makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against any 

person because that person has opposed an unlawful employment 

practice. 

46.  Section 760.11(7) permits a party who receives a no 

cause determination to request a formal administrative hearing 

before DOAH.  "If the administrative law judge finds that a 

violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 [Chapter 760] 

has occurred, he or she shall issue an appropriate recommended 

order to the commission prohibiting the practice and recommending 

affirmative relief from the effects of the practice, including 

back pay."  Id. 

47.  Chapter 760 is patterned after Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, as amended.  Consequently, Florida courts 

look to federal case law when interpreting chapter 760.  

Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. Amer., LLC., 18 So. 3d 17 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 2009).  Ms. Ogbeifun must prove her claims by a preponderance 

of the evidence.  Id. 

48.  A party may prove unlawful discrimination through direct 

evidence of discrimination.  City of Hollywood v. Hogan,  
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986 So. 2d 634, 641 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008).  Direct evidence is 

something like a discriminatory statement by a supervisor that 

requires no interpretation or inferences to manifest the 

discrimination.  Schoenfeld v. Babbitt, 168 F.3d 1257, 1266 (11th 

Cir. 1999). 

49.  The direct evidence does not prove that One Hope 

discriminated against Ms. Ogbeifun because of her race. 

50.  An employee may also prove a claim of discrimination by 

circumstantial evidence establishing that similarly situated 

employees, who were not in her protected class, were treated more 

favorably than she was.  Wilson v. B/E Aerospace, Inc., 376 F.3d 

1079, 1087 (11th Cir. 2004). 

51.  Ms. Ogbeifun had theories about disparate treatment in 

assignments and positions.  Ms. Ogbeifun attempted to prove 

disparate treatment based on her race by claiming that:  (1) she 

was not allowed to work with providers directly; (2) her 

supervisor sabotaged her character; (3) African-American 

employees are required to hold higher education credentials 

compared to Caucasian employees; and (4) she did not receive a 

worksite transfer. 

52.  The scant evidence did not support her theories.  She 

did not prove that similarly situated Caucasian employees were 

treated differently than she or other African-American employees. 
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53.  There was no evidence that non-minority employees had 

not been discharged in circumstances similar to those in which 

One Hope discharged Ms. Ogbeifun. 

54.  Ms. Ogbeifun feels that she was unfairly treated.  But 

unfair, erroneous, or irrational treatment does not equate to 

unlawful discrimination.  Coutu v. Martin Cty. Bd. of Cty. 

Comm'rs, 47 F.3d 1068 (11th Cir. 1995).  

Retaliation 

55.  The court in Blizzard v. Appliance Direct, Inc.,  

16 So. 3d 922, 926 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), described the analysis 

required for a retaliation claim.  The opinion says: 

To establish a prima facie case of 

retaliation under section 760.10(7), a 

plaintiff must demonstrate:  (1) that he or 

she engaged in statutorily protected 

activity; (2) that he or she suffered adverse 

employment action; and (3) that the adverse 

employment action was causally related to the 

protected activity.  See Harper v. 

Blockbuster Entm't Corp., 139 F.3d 1385 (11th 

Cir.), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1000, 119 S. 

Ct. 509, 142 L. Ed. 2d 422 (1998).  Once the 

plaintiff makes a prima facie showing, the 

burden shifts and the defendant must 

articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

reason for the adverse employment action.  

Wells v. Colorado Dep't of Transp., 325 F.3d 

1205, 1212 (10th Cir. 2003).  The plaintiff 

must then respond by demonstrating that 

defendant's asserted reasons for the adverse 

action are pretextual.  Id. 

 

56.  Ms. Ogbeifun established the first two elements.  She 

did not prove the third.  Her discharge could not have been 

because of her January complaint to the Commission because the 
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three people who decided to discharge her did not know of the 

complaint.  The evidence and the facts found did not prove  

Ms. Ogbeifun claim of retaliation. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations issue a final order dismissing the Petition for Relief 

of Veronica Bell Ogbeifun. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 1st day of June, 2017, in Tallahassee, 

Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

JOHN D. C. NEWTON, II 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 1st day of June, 2017. 
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1/
  The document refers to “Kids Hope United.”  This is an earlier 

name for One Hope. 

 
2/
  All references to the Florida Statutes are to the 2016 

codification. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether Petitioner was subjected to a hostile 

work environment based on his gender in violation of section 

760.10(1)(b), Florida Statutes. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On February 4, 2016, Petitioner, Arthur J. Chris-Tensen 

(“Mr. Tensen” or “Petitioner”), filed a Complaint of Employment 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(“Commission”).  The complaint alleged that Respondent, 

EarthLink Shared Services, LLC (“EarthLink” or “Respondent”), 

violated the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Florida Civil 

Rights Act of 1992 (“FCRA”), as amended, by discriminating 

against him on the basis of gender (hostile work environment).  

On November 14, 2016, following its investigation of the 

allegations in the complaint, the Commission issued a 

determination of “No Reasonable Cause” to support Petitioner’s 

complaint.  

On December 16, 2016, Petitioner filed a Petition for 

Relief requesting an administrative hearing regarding the 

Commission’s “No Reasonable Cause” determination pursuant to 

section 760.11(7). 

The Commission referred the matter to the Division on 

December 19, 2016, and on December 20, 2016, this matter was 

assigned to the undersigned.  The undersigned issued a Notice of 
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Hearing, scheduling the final hearing for February 16 and 17, 

2017.  The parties filed a Joint Motion for Continuance of 

Hearing Date on January 11, 2017.  The undersigned granted the 

motion and rescheduled the hearing for March 21 and 22, 2017.   

On March 21, 2017, the hearing commenced as scheduled and 

continued until conclusion on March 22, 2017.  The parties filed 

a pre-hearing stipulation wherein they stipulated to certain 

facts which, to the extent relevant, have been incorporated in 

the Findings of Fact below. 

Petitioner testified on his own behalf and offered the 

testimony of four witnesses:  Stephanie Bouras, former director 

of sales for Earthlink; James Patrick Dunn, former director of 

sales (southeast region) for EarthLink; Ashley Stratton Powell, 

former director of sales (southeast region) for EarthLink; and 

Chris George Risse, former Channel manager (southeast region) 

for EarthLink.  Petitioner offered Exhibits P-8 through P-19, 

which were admitted.  Petitioner proferred P-6 (Affidavit of Ed 

Mehdi Benchannof), but the exhibit was not admitted into 

evidence.  Respondent offered the testimony of three witnesses:  

Sherri Turpin, former vice president of partner programs of 

EarthLink; Michael Toplisek, former chief revenue officer of 

EarthLink; and Erin Shmalo, director of talent acquisition of 

Windstream (formerly EarthLink).  Respondent offered Exhibits  

R-2 through R-8, R-11 through R-21, R-23, and R-25, which were 
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admitted.  The proceeding was recorded by a court reporter and 

the parties ordered a transcript of the final hearing.  The 

three-volume Transcript was filed on May 1, 2017.  Petitioner 

timely filed a Proposed Recommended Order (“PRO”).  Respondent 

filed its PRO untimely and did not request an extension of time 

before the applicable deadline.
1/
  Petitioner filed an objection 

to Respondent’s PRO for being untimely.  However, Petitioner has 

not shown any prejudice caused by the late filing, and, thus, 

both PROs have been carefully considered in preparation of this 

Recommended Order. 

All statutory references are to Florida Statutes (2014) 

when the alleged discriminatory act occurred, unless otherwise 

indicated. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Respondent, EarthLink, is a nationwide 

telecommunications company that employed more than 15 employees 

at all times relevant to this matter.  EarthLink provided 

managed network, security, and cloud solutions to individual and 

multi-location businesses located nationwide, including Florida.  

2.  EarthLink is an employer as that term is defined by the 

FCRA, as amended. 

3.  At all times material to the complaint of 

discrimination, Petitioner, Mr. Tensen, worked at EarthLink.  
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Mr. Tensen worked at EarthLink from November 2013 until his 

position was eliminated on March 20, 2015.   

4.  Mr. Tensen began his employment at EarthLink as a major 

Channel manager in 2013 and he was then promoted to senior 

director of partner development in 2014.  

5.  Mr. Tensen is a male.   

6.  Mr. Tensen was an employee of EarthLink as that term is 

defined by the FCRA.  Petitioner is a member of a protected 

class.  

7.  Mr. Tensen filed a complaint with the Commission 

alleging EarthLink, through Ms. Turpin, created a hostile work 

environment and had bias against men; promoted a woman despite 

his being qualified for the position; and retaliated against him 

for complaining about the alleged hostile work environment.  

8.  The Commission issued a no cause determination and 

Mr. Tensen filed a Petition for Relief, which is the matter 

before the undersigned. 

9.  By way of background, Mr. Tensen applied for a position 

with EarthLink in or around October 2013 based on encouragement 

of J.R. Cook, who was then leading the EarthLink Channel 

(“Channel”) organization.  At the suggestion of Mr. Cook, 

Mr. Tensen listed Sherri Turpin as a professional reference.  At 

that time, Ms. Turpin was the vice president of the master agent 

program, and she ran the Channel in partnership with Mr. Cook. 
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10.  Mr. Cook asked Ms. Turpin to interview Mr. Tensen for a 

Channel manager position, a junior position in the Channel 

organization.  Mr. Tensen was more than qualified for and 

perhaps, over-qualified for the position.  Ms. Turpin interviewed 

Mr. Tensen by phone and then, participated in the decision to 

hire him.  EarthLink hired Mr. Tensen as a senior Channel manager 

for the southeast region, and he reported to James Dunn 

(southeast regional director).  

EarthLink Organizational Structure 

 

11.  EarthLink had a model for the Channel team that was 

based on a sell-through model, where the goal is to motivate 

partners and brokers to sell EarthLink’s products to their 

customers.  The Channel team leverages relationships with 

consultants or partners, pitching EarthLink’s services to them, 

and differentiating EarthLink’s services to the consumer.  

12.  The Channel team is comprised of Channel managers, who 

report directly to regional directors.  Channel managers are 

tasked with the primary responsibility of working directly with 

partners to manage sales of EarthLink’s products and services.  

At the time Mr. Tensen was hired, the regional directors were 

Mr. Dunn, Randy Landers, and Paul Keefe, all males.  They 

reported to Ms. Turpin who, in turn, reported to Mr. Cook.   

13.  A separate group of employees, known as partner 

development directors or PDDs, work with the Channel managers to 
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focus on the largest partners, identified as “master agents.”  

Master agents have ties to national or regional carriers.  The 

PDDs offer additional support to Channel managers to facilitate 

sales with partners.  The PDDs are in an overlay role, meaning 

their primary task is to assist the direct contributors (Channel 

managers and regional directors) in making their quota.  

14.  In 2013 through 2014, EarthLink experienced 

difficulties with retaining some accounts after the initial sale, 

a problem commonly known as “churn.”  Mike Toplisek, the then 

executive vice president and chief revenue officer, decided that 

EarthLink should create an organization dedicated to the 

retention of existing customers and he selected Ms. Turpin to 

develop, implement, and lead the organization.  In the new churn 

organization, Ms. Turpin worked with, among others, Ashley 

Powell.  

15.  After Ms. Turpin left the Channel team in January 2014, 

Mr. Tensen was promoted to a PDD position in the Channel team, 

reporting directly to Mr. Cook.  PDDs have responsibilities for 

overseeing relationships with three to seven master agents, and 

they are charged with business development, hosting marketing 

events, and developing collaboration and alignment between the 

consultant and Channel managers.  In essence, the PDD role is a 

marketing role in a triangular relationship between the Channel 

managers, the master agents, and the PDD. 
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16.  In early 2014, Mr. Cook informed Mr. Toplisek of his 

intention of leaving the Company, prompting a need to find a new 

Channel chief.  Mr. Toplisek interviewed two or three internal 

candidates, including Petitioner and Ms. Turpin.  In the 

meantime, Mr. Toplisek appointed Ms. Turpin as the interim 

Channel chief based on Mr. Cook’s recommendation. 

17.  Ms. Turpin worked in telecommunications her entire 

career.  In fact, Ms. Turpin worked for XO Communications for 

17 years before working at EarthLink.  At XO, she was responsible 

for a direct sales course and she ran a Channel as a sales 

executive.  Similar to the Channel at EarthLink, she also worked 

on a sell-through-model.  Ms. Turpin testified that she had 

approximately seven to eight years of experience working in the 

Channel when she applied for the Channel chief position.  

EarthLink’s then CEO recruited Ms. Turpin away from her position 

to work with Mr. Cook, who was the Channel chief at that time.  

Ms. Turpin and Mr. Cook created the national master agent program 

at EarthLink.   

18.  Ultimately, Mr. Toplisek selected Ms. Turpin based on 

her prior experience running the Channel with Mr. Cook and 

Mr. Cook supported Mr. Toplisek’s decision.   

19.  Mr. Tensen disagreed with the decision to hire 

Ms. Turpin as Channel chief because he believed that he should 

have been selected.  He believed that he had the necessary 
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qualifications and experience and that Ms. Turpin was lacking in 

experience as purportedly indicated in Ms. Turpin’s 360 

assessment review.   

20.  Ms. Turpin did have negative comments on her 360 

assessment review.  However, those comments were a small fraction 

of the overall assessment.  In the 360 assessment review, she was 

described as an extreme asset to EarthLink with the ability to 

problem-solve, build relationships, and motivate her team for 

success.  Ms. Turpin’s rating in each category of assessment and 

overall rating was “fully productive.”  Ms. Shmalo (Earthlink’s 

former human resources partner) testified that Ms. Turpin’s 

rating was positive.  The preponderance of evidence presented at 

the hearing establishes that Ms. Turpin had the necessary 

qualifications and experience to be the Channel chief.  Mr. Cook 

and Mr. Toplisek agreed that Ms. Turpin was the best candidate 

for the position.   

21.  Mr. Cook believed that Mr. Tensen might be disappointed 

in not being selected to lead the Channel and he suggested that 

Mr. Toplisek ensure that Mr. Tensen did not feel slighted and was 

made to feel important.  Accordingly, Mr. Toplisek reached out to 

Petitioner and invited him to have confidential discussions from 

time to time so that Mr. Toplisek could get his perspective on 

the Channel, employee morale, and messaging.  Mr. Toplisek 

credibly testified that he never claimed he was forced to select 
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Ms. Turpin over Mr. Tensen as the Channel chief, nor did he 

promise that Petitioner would replace Ms. Turpin in the future.  

22.  The undersigned is not in a position to second-guess 

EarthLink’s decision to promote Ms. Turpin, who was qualified for 

the position, to replace Mr. Cook as the Channel chief absent 

evidence that the decision was based on a discriminatory 

practice.  The fact that Mr. Tensen met the qualification for the 

position did not give him the exclusive right to being hired for 

the position. 

23.  Petitioner failed to establish that the decision to 

select Ms. Turpin as the Channel chief was based on bias against 

males or any other discriminatory practice. 

Ms. Turpin’s Actions 

24.  In May 2014, shortly after assuming the position of 

Channel chief, Ms. Turpin initiated a meeting with all her new 

Channel employees in Dallas, Texas.  The two purposes of the 

meeting were to better understand the Channel organization that 

Mr. Cook had assembled in Ms. Turpin’s absence and to transition 

Ms. Turpin’s churn duties to other members of the churn 

organization.  Ms. Turpin allowed some members of the churn 

team, including Ms. Powell, to sit in on the meetings with the 

Channel team.   

25.  Ms. Powell did not have prior experience in Channel 

sales, but she was interested in learning about it.  Ms. Powell 
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testified that Ms. Turpin took her to the meeting to meet the new 

team and to get an idea about the Channel.  Ms. Powell claimed 

that Ms. Turpin had informed her that she would have a position 

in the Channel sales team. 

26.  At the Dallas meeting, Ms. Turpin conducted a review 

of all of the regions, Channel managers, and master agents.  In 

the meeting, each of the regional directors, including Mr. Dunn, 

presented on their respective teams and Channel managers.   

27.  During Mr. Dunn’s presentation, Ms. Turpin raised 

concerns about one of his Channel managers, Andrew Butts.  

Ms. Turpin criticized Mr. Butts based on his production, 

practices, and/or work habits. 

28.  Mr. Dunn noted that in the year 2013, Mr. Butts 

received an award for the top five percent performance in the 

company.  Mr. Tensen testified that Mr. Butts was the highest 

achiever for multiple years.  Although Mr. Butts had good past 

performance, Ms. Turpin was concerned about his performance at 

that time.
2/
     

29.  Mr. Dunn believed that it was inappropriate to speak 

about Channel managers in the manner Ms. Turpin used.  Mr. Dunn 

asked Ms. Turpin to refrain from degrading Andrew Butts.  

Although Mr. Dunn maintained that he raised his concerns in a 

calm manner, several witnesses, including Ms. Powell and 

Ms. Bouras, contradicted that assessment.  For example, 
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Ms. Powell said that Mr. Dunn was “very emotional” and that he 

“raised his voice” when he expressed his concerns.  Stephanie 

Bouras recalled that Mr. Dunn’s voice was “[e]levated” and that 

“[h]e was frustrated and angry.”  Ms. Turpin recalled that 

Mr. Dunn stood up, screamed, and yelled, and that he refused to 

follow her direction to manage Mr. Butts’ performance.  Mr. Dunn 

conceded that after he challenged Ms. Turpin, “the room got 

quiet, as quiet as it could get.”  Further, Mr. Dunn noted that 

several people approached him after his comments and counseled 

him to apologize to Ms. Turpin.  Mr. Dunn did not apologize for 

his actions.   

30.  Mr. Tensen claimed Ms. Turpin targeted Mr. Butts 

because he was male.  To the contrary, however, Ms. Bouras and 

Ms. Turpin credibly testified that the discussion about 

Mr. Butts was not because of his gender.   

31.  Following Mr. Dunn’s outburst, Ms. Turpin consulted 

Mark Hopkins, the vice president of human resources, to seek 

guidance.  Based on the guidance from Mr. Hopkins, she 

ultimately spoke with two prior supervisors who described 

separate incidents in which Mr. Dunn “exploded” or “lost his 

cool” at an off-site meeting.  

32.  Based on the conduct she observed during the Dallas 

meeting and the events relayed to her by Mr. Dunn’s prior 
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supervisors, Ms. Turpin decided to terminate his employment for 

insubordination.   

33.  Mr. Dunn claimed that he was told his position was 

eliminated and he received a severance package.  Ms. Turpin 

played no role in deciding whether Mr. Dunn should be offered a 

severance package in exchange for a release.  Likewise, 

Ms. Shmalo had no involvement in Mr. Dunn’s separation and has 

no knowledge of whether he was offered a package in exchange for 

a release.  According to Ms. Shmalo, generally an employee who 

is separated for cause, i.e., insubordination, is not eligible 

for a severance package.  However, any individual offered a 

severance package, even if for business reasons, would be 

classified as having their position eliminated.   

34.  Although Petitioner claimed that Ms. Turpin said, 

“Sometimes you have to throw one of the boys under the bus” 

after the Dallas meeting, that alleged statement is inconsistent 

with the statement Petitioner provided in an email to Ms. Turpin 

and Mr. Toplisek which noted, in part, “Sherri, thank you for 

creating an environment where we could all have our own 

breakthrough moments.  Best off site I've ever attended!”  This 

email makes no reference to Ms. Turpin making references to 

throwing “a boy under the bus,” nor does the email make any 

reference to discrimination, bias, or harassment.   
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35.  Based on the description of Mr. Dunn’s actions at the 

meeting as related by Ms. Bouras, Ms. Powell, and Ms. Turpin, 

the preponderance of the evidence supports that Mr. Dunn was 

terminated for insubordination, rather than his position being 

eliminated.  Mr. Tensen failed to produce evidence to support a 

finding that Mr. Dunn was terminated because he was male.   

36.  Following Mr. Dunn’s termination, Ms. Turpin 

interviewed four candidates to replace him:  Petitioner, 

Ms. Powell, Rob Olson, and an external candidate.  Despite 

Ms. Powell’s claims, Ms. Turpin did not discuss or offer a 

director position to Ms. Powell before the Dallas meeting or 

prior to Mr. Dunn’s termination.  Ms. Turpin first gave 

Mr. Tensen the opportunity to replace Mr. Dunn, but he deferred 

to Ms. Turpin’s judgment about his optimal role.  Ms. Turpin 

ultimately selected Ms. Powell for the role.   

37.  Shortly after Ms. Turpin became the Channel chief, she 

further restructured the partner development organization, 

promoting Mr. Tensen to senior partner development director, 

with the remaining PDDs reporting directly to him.  Petitioner 

received a raise of more than $20,000 per year in total 

compensation.   

38.  Ms. Turpin also advocated for Petitioner to be 

eligible to receive stock options.  Ms. Turpin succeeded in 

obtaining stock options for Petitioner, an extremely valuable 
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benefit.  In arguing for extra money and stock options for 

Mr. Tensen, Ms. Turpin referred to him as her “right hand guy” 

and noted he would be vital for the growth of the business and 

the plans for the Channel.  

39.  Around the same time, Ms. Turpin received approval to 

add a new PDD to her team.  She selected Michael Brennan for the 

position, resulting in a promotion and increase in compensation.  

Ms. Turpin had promoted Mr. Brennan on other occasions and 

advocated for several increases in compensation during her 

tenure at EarthLink. 

40.  In addition to the promotion and raises, during the 

time Mr. Tensen reported to Ms. Turpin, she provided him with a 

positive performance review, and she described him as an 

“amazing employee.”  Though she noted some areas where 

Petitioner could improve, she largely praised his contributions 

to EarthLink.  The review notes a “billed revenue” number of 

$36,062,382, which was 109.15 percent of the stated goal.  The 

billed revenue number in this review reflected all revenue 

across all customers in the Channel, regardless of whether 

Mr. Tensen drove or impacted the sales.  The 109-percent figure 

was largely driven by churn, reflecting that customers were not 

leaving the EarthLink as rapidly.  
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41.  In addition to Mr. Brennan and Mr. Tensen, Ms. Turpin 

had a good working relationship with Travis O’Keefe, who 

consistently met his quotas. 

42.  There was some evidence offered at hearing that 

Ms. Turpin had a “girl’s club.”  Although Mr. Risse testified 

there was a “women’s team” in management, he admitted that all 

of the leaders in the Channel organization, except Ms. Powell 

and Ms. Turpin, were men.  Further, he based his belief in part 

on Jim Dunn’s termination and the mistaken belief that 

Ms. Powell was selected to replace Mr. Dunn without 

consideration of external candidates.  In fact, the evidence 

shows Mr. Dunn was terminated for insubordination and four 

candidates (two males, including Mr. Tensen, an external 

candidate, and Ms. Powell) were interviewed for the position.  

The undersigned notes that Mr. Risse did not make any complaints 

of discriminatory behavior regarding Ms. Turpin’s actions. 

Reduction in Force 

43.  In early 2015, EarthLink had a relatively new CEO who 

shifted EarthLink’s prior strategy and focused on providing the 

greatest value to shareholders.  Around that time, the teams 

were also not consistently meeting their quotas.  The strategy 

focused on maximizing profits, which, based on the EarthLink’s 

core business, necessitated a greater emphasis on cost 

reduction.  Specifically, EarthLink focused on reducing 
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operational expenses.  Based on the nature of the business, the 

biggest operational expense was employees.  As such, EarthLink 

would undergo a reduction-in-force (“RIF”).  

44.  To satisfy this directive, Mr. Toplisek directed his 

direct reports, including Ms. Turpin, to reduce cost while 

keeping revenue flow as high as possible.  Upon receiving this 

directive from Mr. Toplisek, Ms. Turpin considered several 

options to comply with his directive.  Ultimately, Ms. Turpin 

decided to eliminate Mr. Tensen’s position.  Because this was a 

position (the only such position) she had created, Ms. Turpin 

believed she could absorb majority of the work being performed 

by Mr. Tensen without significantly increasing the burden on the 

rest of the Channel team.   

45.  Ms. Turpin notified Mr. Toplisek of her decision and 

explained the basis for her selection.  Mr. Toplisek supported 

her decision.   

46.  On March 9, 2015, Ms. Turpin (and a human resources 

representative) notified Mr. Tensen by phone that his position 

was eliminated.  Because Mr. Tensen’s position was eliminated as 

part of the RIF, he was given a severance package.  Ms. Turpin 

testified that elimination of Mr. Tensen’s position was 

unrelated to his job performance.  Ms. Turpin settled on 

eliminating Petitioner’s role because she believed it had the 

least amount of impact on sales, as he was in an overlay role 



 

18 

and, moreover, one step removed from the PDDs who worked 

directly with the Channel managers.  After Mr. Tensen’s position 

was eliminated, Ms. Turpin absorbed his responsibilities.  No 

one replaced Mr. Tensen as the position was never refilled.   

47.  Although Petitioner was the only employee eliminated 

in the Channel organization, several other employees were also 

downsized during the RIF.  Ms. Shmalo testified that she 

notified 21 employees in March 2015 that their positions were 

being eliminated, including both male and female employees.  

Moreover, in March 2015, EarthLink eliminated the positions of 

40 to 50 employees in Toplisek’s sales organization. 

48.  The preponderance of the evidence supports that the 

decision to eliminate Mr. Tensen’s position was based on the 

directive to reduce operation expenses by a RIF and not related 

to his gender or retaliation. 

Use of Profanity/Hostile Work Environment 

49.  Mr. Tensen asserts that Ms. Turpin terminated him 

because she had a bias against men and that she would use 

profanity against and “verbally castrate” men.  

50.  Several witnesses testified at hearing that Ms. Turpin 

used profanity.  Ms. Turpin admitted that she used profanity but 

it was not in a derogatory or offensive manner.  She also stated 

that no one complained to her that they were offended by the use 

of profanity.   
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51.  Mr. Toplisek testified that EarthLink employees (men 

and women) used profanity.  He considered the term “bitch(es)” 

as an endearing term and it was used by Ms. Turpin and others at 

EarthLink.  The term was used for men and women.  Ms. Turpin 

testified that it was an acronym
3/
 and that she "never referred 

to a person directly as a bitch."  While, this is contradicted 

by the testimony of Stephanie Bouras, who testified that 

Ms. Turpin used the term “bitch” as addressed directly to a 

person, Ms. Bouras noted that the term “bitches” was directed 

toward men and women, rather than only to men.  Ms. Powell also 

testified that Ms. Turpin called everyone “bitches.” 

52.  According to Ms. Shmalo, if an employee was 

uncomfortable with the use of profanity, that individual would 

be instructed to notify his or her direct supervisor that they 

felt uncomfortable with the language.  Ms. Shmalo also stated 

that harassment or discrimination is based on conduct involving 

an individual in a protected class.   

53.  At all times material to this matter, EarthLink had a 

policy which prohibits discrimination based on any protected 

categories, including sex. 

54.  EarthLink has policies which express its commitment to 

a workplace free from discrimination.  The EarthLink handbook 

provides, “[w]e respect the individual and our business success 

depends on employees being able to express their ideas and doing 
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their jobs without fear of harassment or unlawful treatment.”  

Accordingly, EarthLink requires all employees to be given equal 

opportunity in “every aspect of employment, including 

recruitment, hiring, training, promotions, transfers, 

compensation, benefits, discipline, terminations, and all other 

privileges, terms and conditions of employment.”  Discrimination 

or harassment on the basis of gender or any other protected 

characteristic is prohibited.  EarthLink provides employees with 

detailed instructions for reporting any violation of EarthLink’s 

equal employment and anti-harassment policies, and retaliation 

against employees who complain about harassment or 

discrimination is also prohibited.  

55.  Mr. Tensen claimed that he complained of Ms. Turpin 

fostering a hostile work environment in a letter to then CEO, 

Mr. Eazor.  Ms. Shmalo had no knowledge of the letter and thus, 

was not aware of any complaints regarding Ms. Turpin maintaining 

a hostile work environment. 

56.  Ms. Shmalo did receive complaints regarding Ms. Turpin 

from employees working in the Channel.  Ms. Powell and 

Mr. Brennan complained about Ms. Turpin’s leadership style and 

communication practices.  However, they did not complain of 

discrimination, harassment, a hostile work environment, or bias 

in favor of women (also known as the girl’s club).   
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57.  Mr. Tensen spoke to Ms. Shmalo after his position was 

eliminated, but he did not complain to her that he believed his 

separation was based on discrimination against him because he 

was male or due to bias against males. 

58.  Mr. Tensen’s exit interview questionnaire complained 

of dissatisfaction with Ms. Turpin’s leadership and management 

style but did not mention any complaints of discrimination or 

bias against males.  

59.  EarthLink's Anti-Harassment Policy provides that an 

employee who is subject to or a witness of harassment must 

report it to any manager or member of management.  Mr. Tensen 

never complained that he felt uncomfortable with the use of 

profanity.  He never complained that he felt discriminated 

against.  He also never complained to anyone at EarthLink that 

he believed there was a bias against men before his position 

elimination.  Moreover, he had confidential meetings with 

Mr. Toplisek and he never mentioned discrimination or a hostile 

work environment to him before he was terminated. 

60.  On March 12, 2015, three days after his position 

elimination, Mr. Tensen spoke with Mr. Toplisek in a phone 

conversation.  During the call, Mr. Tensen expressed that he 

believed Ms. Turpin terminated him because he sent an email to 

Mr. Eazor.  Mr. Tensen did not state that be believed he was 
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terminated because he is male, or as a result of discrimination 

or harassment.                                                                                                                              

61.  Mr. Tensen followed up on the conversation with 

Mr. Toplisek by email later that same day.  Although he was 

critical of Ms. Turpin, he did not mention that he believed he 

was terminated based on discrimination, harassment, or because 

he is male.    

62.  Mr. Tensen alleged that Ms. Turpin retaliated against 

him after he sent the letter to Mr. Eazor complaining about 

Ms. Turpin.  Ms. Powell testified that before Mr. Tensen was 

terminated, Ms. Turpin was aware of the letter Mr. Tensen sent 

to Mr. Eazor and instructed her not to talk with Mr. Tensen 

because of that “letter.”  Ms. Turpin denies this.  Ms. Powell’s 

testimony, which is largely uncorroborated, is found to be not 

credible on whether Ms. Turpin knew about the letter before 

Mr. Tensen was terminated.   

63.  The evidence supports the finding that Ms. Turpin did 

not learn of the letter until after Mr. Tensen’s position was 

eliminated.  Mr. Tensen sent two emails regarding Ms. Turpin’s 

leadership and management style.  Mr. Tensen sent the first 

email to Mr. Eazor on February 2, 2015, where he outlined his 

concerns about Ms. Turpin, including that she created and 

sustains a hostile work environment.  On March 12, 2015, a 

second email was sent to Mr. Toplisek (three days after 



 

23 

Mr. Tensen was terminated).  Similar to the first letter, 

Mr. Tensen complained about Ms. Turpin and it also mentioned the 

first letter to Mr. Eazor.   

64.  On March 12, 2015, Mr. Toplisek forward Mr. Tensen’s 

second email (mentioning the letter to Mr. Eazor) to Mark 

Hopkins in human resources.  Mr. Hopkins discussed Mr. Tensen’s 

email with Ms. Turpin.  Mr. Hopkins agreed with Mr. Toplisek 

that he should cease communication with Mr. Tensen. 

65.  Ms. Turpin and Mr. Toplisek credibly testified that 

they did not learn of the letter to Mr. Eazor until after 

Mr. Tensen was terminated.   

66.  Mr. Tensen failed to provide evidence to demonstrate 

that he complained of discrimination or a hostile work 

environment before he was terminated from EarthLink.   

67.  It is undisputed that Petitioner received a positive 

performance review for 2014 and exceeded his quota for that year 

by more than nine percent.  He was recognized for his ability to 

drive results.  He was successful in motivating his team to 

focus on driving sales.  He was recognized as very efficient and 

effective when it came to putting customers first.  He was 

characterized as a key to the success of his department.   

68.  However, the credible evidence supports that 

Mr. Tensen’s position being eliminated had nothing to do with 

his work performance; rather, it was due to the company-wide 
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RIF.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that EarthLink’s 

elimination of his position was in retaliation for any complaint 

of discriminatory employment practices or due to gender bias 

against males.   

69.  While Petitioner was employed with EarthLink, he never 

complained about discrimination or a hostile work environment. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

70.  Pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida 

Statutes (2016), the Division has jurisdiction over the subject 

matter and parties to this proceeding. 

71.  Section 760.10(1)(a) makes it unlawful for an employer 

to take adverse action against an individual because of that 

employee’s race or sex. 

72.  The FCRA defines “employer” as “any person employing 

15 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more 

calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year, and 

any agent of such person.”  § 760.02(7), Fla. Stat. 

73.  Based on the evidence presented, EarthLink meets the 

definition of employer.   

74.  Petitioner filed a complaint alleging Respondent 

discriminated against him on the basis of his sex (male) and 

retaliated against him for engaging in a protected employment 

activity.  
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75.  Section 760.11(1) provides, in pertinent part, that 

“[a]ny person aggrieved by a violation of ss. 760.01-760.10 may 

file a complaint with the [Commission] within 365 days of the 

alleged violation.”  Petitioner timely filed his complaint.  

76.  Section 760.11(7) provides that upon a determination 

by the Commission that there is no reasonable cause to believe 

that a violation of the FCRA has occurred, “[t]he aggrieved 

person may request an administrative hearing under ss. 120.569 

and 120.57, but any such request must be made within 35 days of 

the date of determination of reasonable cause.”  Following the 

Commission’s determination of no cause, Petitioner timely filed 

his Petition for Relief from Unlawful Employment Practices and 

Request for Administrative Hearing resulting in this hearing.   

77.  Chapter 760, Part I, is patterned after Title VII of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.  When “a Florida 

statute is modeled after a federal law on the same subject, the 

Florida statute will take on the same constructions as placed on 

its federal prototype.”  Brand v. Fla. Power Corp., 633 So. 2d 

504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); see also Valenzuela v. GlobeGround 

N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009); Fla. State Univ. 

v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Fla. Dep't of 

Cmty. Aff. v. Bryant, 586 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).  

78.  Petitioner has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondent committed an 
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unlawful employment practice.  See St. Louis v. Fla. Int'l 

Univ., 60 So. 3d 455 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011); Fla. Dep't of Transp. 

v. J.W.C. Co., 396 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).  

Discrimination-Sex 

79.  Employees may prove discrimination by direct, 

statistical, or circumstantial evidence.  Valenzuela v. 

GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d at 22.  

80.  Direct evidence is evidence that, if believed, would 

prove the existence of discriminatory intent without resort to 

inference or presumption.  Denney v. City of Albany, 247 F.3d 

1172, 1182 (11th Cir. 2001); Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 

1561 (11th Cir. 1997).  It is well established that “‘only the 

most blatant remarks, whose intent could be nothing other than 

to discriminate . . .’ will constitute direct evidence of 

discrimination.”  Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 

196 F.3d 1354, 1358-59 (11th Cir. 1999)(citations omitted).  

81.  Petitioner argues that he presented direct evidence of 

discrimination on the basis of sex as indicated by testimony of 

Ms. Powell and Mr. Risse.  Their testimony was insufficient to 

prove direct evidence of bias.  However, Ms. Bouras, Mr. Dunn, 

and Mr. Toplisek testified that Ms. Turpin did not treat men 

differently and more importantly, they did not observe any  
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instances of Ms. Turpin treating Petitioner differently because 

he was male.  Petitioner failed to prove that there was direct 

evidence of discrimination on the basis of sex.   

82.  Petitioner presented no statistical evidence of 

discrimination by Respondent in its personnel decisions 

affecting Petitioner.  

83.  In the absence of any credible direct or statistical 

evidence of discriminatory intent, Petitioner must rely on 

circumstantial evidence.  In McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. 

Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), and as refined in Texas Department 

of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981), and 

St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993), the 

United States Supreme Court established the procedure for 

determining whether employment discrimination has occurred when 

employees rely upon circumstantial evidence of discriminatory 

intent. 

84.  Under McDonnell Douglas, Petitioner has the initial 

burden of establishing a prima facie case of unlawful 

discrimination.  

85.  To establish a prima facie case of gender 

discrimination, Petitioner must demonstrate by a preponderance 

of the evidence that:  1) he is a member of a protected class; 

2) he was qualified for the position; 3) he was subjected to an 

adverse employment action; and 4) his employer treated 
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similarly-situated employees outside of his protected class more 

favorably than she was treated.  Burke-Fowler v. Orange Cnty., 

447 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th Cir. 2006). 

86.  The first, second, and third elements of the prima 

facie case have been met by Petitioner.  Petitioner is a male, 

he was qualified for the position, and he was terminated from 

his position at EarthLink due to the RIF.   

87.  Petitioner did not, however, prove the fourth element, 

that other similarly-situated employees were treated more 

favorably than him.   

88.  An adequate comparator for Petitioner must be 

“‘similarly-situated’ in all relevant respects.”  Valenzuela v. 

GlobeGround N. Am., 18 So. 3d at 23 (internal citations 

omitted); Johnson v. Great Expressions Dental Ctrs. of Fla., 

132 So. 3d 1174 (Fla. 3d DCA 2014).  The Johnson court explained 

the exacting nature of the similarly-situated comparator, as 

follows:  

Similarly situated employees must have 

reported to the same supervisor as the 

plaintiff, must have been subject to the 

same standards governing performance 

evaluation and discipline, and must have 

engaged in conduct similar to plaintiff’s, 

without such differentiating conduct that 

would distinguish their conduct of the 

appropriate discipline for it. 

 

Id. at 1176. 
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89.  Petitioner has failed to prove by a preponderance of 

the evidence that Respondent treated similarly-situated 

employees outside his protected class more favorably than him.  

Petitioner’s only evidence that Ms. Turpin treated women more 

favorably was that she created a “girl’s club” and surrounded 

herself with women.  However, this is not evidence of a 

similarly situated comparator.  Furthermore, Ms. Bouras was the 

only non-biased witness who testified regarding the alleged 

girl’s club, and stated that “there were girls hanging out 

together” but stopped short of stating there were girls working 

together or that there was a girl’s club.  Thus, this argument 

is rejected. 

90.  Petitioner failed to produce evidence that Respondent 

treated female employees more favorably than Petitioner.  At the 

time of his position elimination, Petitioner was the only 

employee that served as a senior director of partner 

development.  Ms. Powell and Ms. Bouras were females working in 

the Channel under Ms. Turpin, whereas Petitioner was the only 

senior director.  Further, Ms. Powell testified that she was 

placed on a performance for plan and had travel restrictions.  

The evidence presented at hearing failed to demonstrate that any 

of the female employees met the similarly-situated employee test 

and failed to demonstrate that any female received favorable 

treatment on the basis of gender.  Therefore, Petitioner failed 
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to prove a prima facie case of unlawful discrimination based on 

his sex (male) under the McDonnell Douglas standard. 

Legitimate Non-Discriminatory Reason  

91.  If Petitioner had met his burden of demonstrating a 

prima facie case of unlawful discrimination, the burden would 

shift to Respondent to proffer a legitimate reason for the 

adverse employment action.  Assuming Respondent does proffer a 

legitimate reason for the adverse employment action, the burden 

would then shift back to Petitioner to prove by a preponderance 

of the evidence that the “legitimate reason” is merely a pretext 

for the prohibited, retaliatory conduct.  Russell v. KSL Hotel 

Corp., 887 So. 2d 372 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) (citing Sierminski v. 

Transouth Fin. Corp., 216 F.3d 945, 950 (11th Cir. 2000)).  

92.  Respondent’s proffered legitimate nondiscriminatory 

reason for terminating Petitioner was the RIF.  Given the CEO’s 

directive to provide greater value to EarthLink shareholders, it 

was necessary for EarthLink to reduce operating costs and 

expenses and employee reduction was the most obvious place to 

make reductions.  The decision to eliminate Mr. Tensen’s 

position was not related to his gender.  Rather, his position 

elimination was a result of the RIF.   

93.  Thus, Respondent met its burden to produce evidence of 

a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for eliminating 

Petitioner’s position.  
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Pre-text for Discrimination 

94.  To meet the requirements of the pretext step, 

Petitioner must produce sufficient evidence for a reasonable 

fact finder to conclude that the employer's legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason was “a pretext for discrimination.”  

Laincy v. Chatham Cnty. Bd. of Assessors, 520 F. App’x. 780, 781 

(11th Cir. 2013) (citing Vessels v. Atlanta Indep. Sch. Sys., 

408 F.3d 763, 771 (11th Cir. 2005)).  “Provided that the 

proffered reason is one that might motivate a reasonable 

employer, an employee must meet that reason head on and rebut 

it, and the employee cannot succeed by simply quarreling with 

the wisdom of that reason.”  Id.  Rather, the plaintiff must 

show “such weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies, 

incoherencies or contradictions in the employer's proffered 

legitimate reasons . . . that a reasonable factfinder could find 

them unworthy of credence.”  Id. 

95.  It is clear from the evidence presented that EarthLink 

provided a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its 

employment action involving elimination of Mr. Tensen’s 

position.  Therefore, Petitioner did not prove by a 

preponderance of the evidence that EarthLink’s grounds for the 

position elimination were pretextual.   
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Retaliation 

96.  As a preliminary matter, the undersigned finds that 

Petitioner abandoned any retaliation claim against Respondent in 

this matter.  While Petitioner alleged in his initial complaint 

of discrimination that Respondent retaliated against him, 

Petitioner never alleged a retaliation claim in his Petition.  

Further, in the Joint Pre-hearing Stipulation submitted by the 

parties on March 16, 2017, Petitioner did not identify 

retaliation as an issue which remained to be tried at the 

hearing.   

97.  In paragraph 5(h) of the Order of Pre-hearing 

Instructions, the undersigned directed the parties to “provide a 

concise statement of those issues of law which remain for 

determination by the undersigned.”  The undersigned also 

indicated that “the failure to identify issues of fact or law 

remaining to be litigated may constitute a waiver and 

elimination of those issues.”  See Palm Beach Polo Holdings, 

Inc. v. Broward Marine, Inc., 174 So. 3d 1037 (Fla. 4th DCA 

2015).  Petitioner did not include retaliation as an issue of 

law which remained for determination in the joint pre-hearing 

stipulation.  At the hearing, the undersigned asked whether the 

issues identified in the joint pre-hearing stipulation were the 

only issues to be tried at the hearing; Petitioner still did not  
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raise retaliation as an issue.  Accordingly, the undersigned 

finds that Petitioner abandoned any retaliation claim in this 

case. 

98.  Even if Petitioner had not abandoned his claim for 

retaliation, Petitioner failed to present evidence to support a 

claim for retaliation. 

99.  A claim of retaliation involves section 760.10(7), 

which provides that:  “It is an unlawful employment practice for 

an employer, . . . to discriminate against any person because 

that person has opposed any practice which is an unlawful 

employment practice under this section, or because that person 

has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any 

manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this 

section.”  

100.  “Section 760.10(7), Florida Statutes, is virtually 

identical to its Federal Title VII counterpart, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000e-3(a).  The FCRA is patterned after Title VII; federal 

case law on Title VII applies to FCRA claims.”  Hinton v. 

Supervision Int'l, Inc., 942 So. 2d 986, 989 (Fla. 5th DCA 

2006)(citing Guess v. City of Miramar, 889 So. 2d 840, 846 n.2 

(Fla. 4th DCA 2005)).  

101.  In construing 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), the Eleventh 

Circuit has held that:  [t]he statute's participation clause 

“protects proceedings and activities which occur in conjunction 
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with or after the filing of a formal charge with the EEOC.”  The 

opposition clause, on the other hand, protects activity that 

occurs before the filing of a formal charge with the EEOC, such 

as submitting an internal complaint of discrimination to an 

employer, or informally complaining of discrimination to a 

supervisor.  (citations omitted).  Muhammed v. Audio Visual 

Servs. Group, 380 Fed. Appx. 864, 872 (11th Cir. 2010).  The 

division of section 760.10(7) into the “opposition clause” and 

the “participation clause” is recognized by Florida state 

courts.  See Blizzard v. Appliance Direct, Inc., 16 So. 3d 922, 

at 925-926 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009).  

102.  In explaining the difference between the two clauses, 

the Second District Court of Appeal has held that:  

FCRA's “opposition clause [protects] 

employees who have opposed unlawful 

[employment practices]. . . .”  However, 

opposition claims usually involve 

“activities such as ‘making complaints to 

management, writing critical letters to 

customers, protesting against discrimination 

by industry or by society in general, and 

expressing support of coworkers who have 

filed formal charges. . . .’”  Cases 

involving retaliatory acts committed after 

the employee has filed a charge with the 

relevant administrative agency usually arise 

under the participation clause.  

 

Carter v. Health Mgmt. Assoc., 989 So. 2d 1258, 1263 

(Fla. 2d DCA 2008). 
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103.  Petitioner did not introduce any direct or 

statistical evidence that proves Respondent retaliated against 

him as a result of Petitioner’s opposition to acts of 

discrimination.  Absent any direct or statistical evidence, 

Petitioner must prove his allegations of retaliation by 

circumstantial evidence.  Circumstantial evidence of retaliation 

is subject to the burden-shifting analysis established in 

McDonnell Douglas. 

104.  To establish a prima facie case of retaliation under 

the opposition clause under McDonnell Douglas, Petitioner must 

demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence “(1) that [he] 

engaged in statutorily protected expression; (2) that [he] 

suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) there is some 

causal relationship between the two events.”  (citations 

omitted).  Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d at 1566; see also 

Muhammed v. Audio Visual Servs. Group, 380 Fed. Appx. at 872; 

Tipton v. Canadian Imperial Bank, 872 F.2d 1491 (11th Cir. 

1989). 

a.  Statutorily-Protected Activity  

105.  Not every act an employee takes in opposition to 

discrimination is a protected activity.  Laincy, 520 Fed. App’x. 

at 782 (citing Butler v. Ala. Dep't of Transp., 536 F.3d 1209, 

1214 (11th Cir. 2008)).  The employee must show:  “(1) that [he] 

had a subjective good-faith belief ‘that [his] employer was 
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engaged in unlawful employment practices’; and (2) that [his] 

belief, even if mistaken, was objectively reasonable in light of 

the record.”  Id.  (emphasis added). 

106.  The standard requires an intensely fact-specific 

analysis.  In Laincy, the court found that plaintiff did not 

engage in a protected activity because his belief that his 

coworkers’ allegedly harassing comments constituted an unlawful 

employment practice was objectively unreasonable, where it was 

limited to three innocuous comments asking him if he was dating 

someone.  Laincy, 520 Fed. App’x. at 783.  See also MacKenzie v. 

Denver, 414 F.3d 1266, 1281 (10th Cir. 2005)(plaintiff’s claim 

of age harassment was both subjectively and objectively 

unreasonable where she likewise lobbed age-related comments at 

her supervisor, thus participating in a form of “mutual 

bantering”); Atkinson v. Stavro’s Pizza, Inc., Case No. 13-2880 

(Fla. DOAH Jan. 29, 2015) (petitioner’s complaint of sexual 

harassment based on a single “weird conversation” between 

petitioner and another employee, in which the other employee 

stated he “knew everything about her, including where she lived, 

and that her favorite color was blue,” was objectively 

unreasonable). 

107.  Here, Petitioner argued that on February 2, 2015, he 

submitted a written complaint of discrimination to Respondent’s 

CEO.  While he used what he termed the “buzz word” of hostile 
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environment, his statement referenced complaints regarding men 

and women.  He did not specifically state any complaints of 

discrimination directed to one gender (males).  Further, 

Petitioner sent his email to an email address that appeared to 

be for feedback to lodge his complaints, instead of complaining 

to Mr. Toplisek (Ms. Turpin’s direct supervisor) with whom he 

had regular conversations or to a member of human resources.  

Thus, Petitioner failed to establish a subjective good-faith 

belief for his reports of discrimination based on sex or hostile 

environment.   

108.  Therefore, Petitioner failed to prove by a 

preponderance of the evidence that he engaged in a statutorily-

protected activity when he reported complaints of hostile work 

environment to Respondent’s CEO. 

b.  Adverse Employment Action 

109.  Clearly, Petitioner suffered an adverse employment 

action when his position was eliminated on March 9, 2015. 

110.  Thus, Petitioner could satisfy his burden to 

establish that he met the second element of the prima facie case 

for retaliation. 

c.  Causal Connection 

111.  To prove the third element, Petitioner must 

demonstrate a causal connection between the protected activity 

and the adverse employment decision.  This causal link element 
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is construed broadly, and may be established by a demonstration 

that the employer was aware of the protected conduct and that 

the protected activity and the adverse action were not “wholly 

unrelated.”  Farley v. Nationwide Mut. Ins., 197 F.3d 1322, 1337 

(11th Circ. 1999)(internal citations omitted); Olmstead v. Taco 

Bell Corp., 141 F.3d 1457, 1460 (11th Cir. 1998).  Moreover, for 

purposes of demonstrating a prima facie case, close temporal 

proximity may be sufficient to show that the protected activity 

and adverse action were not wholly unrelated.  Gupta v. Fla. Bd. 

of Regents, 212 F.3d 571, 590 (11th Cir. 2000).  

112.  At the hearing, Petitioner discussed incidents that 

occurred during his employment that he did not like and felt 

were discriminatory.  However, Petitioner failed to establish 

that he complained about discrimination during his employment.  

Petitioner’s vague statements of hostile work environment and 

displeasure with men and women were not sufficient to establish 

that he sufficiently complained of discrimination on the basis 

of gender.  No evidence was produced by Petitioner that he 

expressly complained about gender discrimination.  Courts have 

consistently required that an employee's complaints must clearly 

put an employer on notice of a violation of the law.  See 

Johnson v. Fla. Dep't of Elder Aff., No. 4: 09-CV- 306/RS/WCS, 

2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 42784, at 6 (N.D. Fla. Mar 20, 2010).  

Further, the courts recognize a “common sense” requirement that 
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“[a] decision maker cannot have been motivated to retaliate by 

something unknown to [her].”  Brungart v. BellSouth Telecomms., 

Inc., 231 F.3d 791, 799 (11th Cir. 2000).   

113.  The record is clear that Petitioner received the 

employee handbook with the grievance procedures for EarthLink.  

Since Petitioner never put EarthLink on notice that he was 

opposing gender discrimination or that he was making a formal 

complaint, Petitioner failed to produce evidence of any 

protected activity, and as a result, he failed to show a causal 

connection related to Petitioner’s position elimination. 

114.  Therefore, Petitioner would not be able to prove by 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondent retaliated against 

him for engaging in protected complaints of unlawful employment 

discrimination.  

Conclusion 

 

115.  Based on the foregoing, Petitioner did not prove his 

Charge of Discrimination.  The undersigned therefore concludes 

that Respondent did not violate the Florida Civil Rights Act of 

1992, and is not liable to Petitioner for discrimination in 

employment based on sex or retaliation. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations issue a final order dismissing Petitioner’s 
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discrimination complaint and Petition for Relief consistent with 

the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of this Recommended 

Order. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 1st day of June, 2017, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

YOLONDA Y. GREEN 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 1st day of June, 2017. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Florida Administrative Code Rule 28-106.104(3) states “Any 

document received by the office of the agency clerk before 

5:00 p.m. shall be filed as of that day but any document 

received after 5:00 p.m. shall be filed as of 8:00 a.m. on the 

next regular business day.”  

 
2/
  Based on the evidence presented at hearing, Mr. Butts did not 

attended the meeting. 

 
3/
  The acronym B.I.T.C.H.E.S. represented:  Babes or (Boys) In 

Total Control of Herself (or Himself). 
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(eServed) 

 

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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APPENDIX 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/
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COPYRIGHT NOTICE 

TextBookDiscrimination.com is not the author of these public 

documents. Instead, TextBookDiscrimination.com merely re-printed 

and reformatted them for easier use. 

 

ORIGINAL SOURCE 

# Item Link 

1 Original Source FCHR.MyFlorida.com 

2 Secondary Source DOAH.State.FL.US 

 

INTERACTIVE VERSION 

# Item Link 

1 Web TextBookDiscrimination.com/Reports/RO/ 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

E: TextBookDiscrimination@gmail.com 

W: www.TextBookDiscrimination.com 

 

 

Congratulations! You’re now booked up on these ‘Agency 

Recommended Orders’ that are pertinent to civil rights 

litigation! 

https://www.textbookdiscrimination.com/
https://fchr.myflorida.com/
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